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Letter of Compliance

28 August 2015

The Honourable Cameron Dick MP

Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services

Member for Woodridge

Level 19, 147-163 Charlotte Street

BRISBANE   QLD   4000

Dear Minister

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2014–2015 and financial statements for the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service.

I certify that this annual report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland 

Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on page 92 of this annual report 

or accessible at www.health.qld.gov.au/townsville.

Yours sincerely

Mr John Bearne

Chair

Townsville Hospital and Health Board
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Hospital and Health 
Board Chair’s overview

This is the completion of the Townsville Hospital and Health 
Service’s (HHS) third year as a Statutory Body governed by a 
Board. Like the two previous years 2014–2015 has included major 
changes within the organisation along with the bedding down of 
strategies which the Board had approved the previous year.

The results achieved by our staff, in particular around our key 
performance indicators, have been amazing. We are arguably 
the most successful major Hospital and Health Service in 
Queensland with some of our results leading the nation. When 
I attend the Queensland Health Board Chairs’ Forum, I not 
only attend with my usual passion for Townsville and North 
Queensland but with the pride for what our service, through all 
our 5,000 staff, has achieved.

In October 2014, Helen Towler joined our Board. Helen has 
significant nursing and research experience which added 
immensely to the Board discussions and decisions. The other 
Board members were appointed at the Board’s inception and it 
is this stability, in a world of change, that has held the HHS in 
good stead. I take this opportunity to thank the Board members  
for their time, expertise, strong opinions, robust discussions and 
unity. As Chair, I am very privileged to work with such capable 
people.

This is the third year the HHS has delivered a financial surplus. 
As demonstrated previously, our financial surpluses will be 
redirected back into health services supporting our community 
and staff. The financial future appears to be much tougher and 
will require some innovative thought processes to manage a 
complex and ever-increasing demand on it. The Board is very 
aware of the challenges our service faces, however, through 
strong challenges come strong solutions.

Some of the challenges we have had to face this year included 
becoming a Prescribed Employer and the Transfer of Assets 
to our balance sheet, both requiring substantial investment 
in capability and capacity from within our own resources. We 
have built new teams to ensure both are managed professionally 
and respectfully within the constraints of our budget. This has 
included a Total Asset Management Plan and Human Resources 
Strategy which are currently being implemented.

The Townsville Hospital and Health Board has five Sub-
Committees which are each chaired by a Board member. 

 Executive Michelle Morton
 Finance Glen Cerutti
 Safety and Quality Dr Kevin Arlett
 Audit Dr Eric Guazzo
 Governance John Bearne

The Board continues to develop the Master Plan together with 
James Cook University ( JCU) for the education/health precinct. 
The strong collaboration between JCU and the HHS continues 
through training and research. The future holds additional 
opportunities to work together in new and innovative ways, 
producing health opportunities for our community.

The Board’s strategy of holding Board meetings in our rural hospital 
sites as well as in The Townsville Hospital continues with Ayr, Home 
Hill and Ingham hosting the Board this year. Next year will include 
meetings in Hughenden and Richmond. These rural Board meetings 
give the staff an opportunity to speak to Board members and for 
the Board to better understand rural issues through the staff, local 
councils and Community Advisory Networks.

The Board approved a major spend on our Integrated Electronic 
Medical Records (ieMR) project with the implementation of our 
electronic patient records being the first stage. This initiative aims to 
make the biggest improvements in safety, quality and efficiency. The 
technology, supported by new ways of working, when fully installed 
will deliver opportunities for the HHS to improve its services for our 
patients. When you link this technology with our Person-Centered 
Care program there are opportunities for amazing results which will 
benefit our patients, community, staff and reputation.

Research and education are the keys to our future and are priorities 
for the Board. The collaboration between the North Queensland 
hospital and health services and JCU on the development of 
an Academic Health Science Centre is just one example of the 
strength of a joint approach to broader health issues alongside 
our investment in clinical governance and research ethics and 
leadership. The Board believes the engagement of all our key 
health and education stakeholders will be our future particularly 
around primary, less acute care and hospital avoidance.

On behalf of the Board I take this opportunity to thank our Chief 
Executive, Julia Squire, for her drive, expertise and dedication in the 
delivery of some amazing results this year and previous two years. 
Julia is moving on to take the Chief Executive role in a major hospital 
in Adelaide. We wish her well and we will miss her immensely.
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Health Service Chief 
Executive’s overview

The 2014–2015 year was the most successful year yet for the 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service (HHS) and its staff and 

communities. My 5,000 colleagues, our wonderful volunteers, 

partners and communities continued to provide support to 

ensure that the HHS provided more care at the best possible 

standard under the Board’s direction than ever before. Most 

importantly, we are focused on the things our patients, 

communities, staff and partners feel are important. 

There are very many highlights from 2014–2015 and I am spoilt for 

choice for those to mention. We are amongst the very best performers 

in Queensland and nationally. I am proud that we continually strive 

to put our people first. We engage our patients in their care, our 

communities in understanding their needs and wishes, and our staff 

in the workplace. There is more to do and we are on the right track. 

Our year-end report tells us that our key measures of safety and quality 

are significantly improved again. The measures include methicillin 

resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections, in-hospital 

mortality rates generally and for specific conditions like stroke, heart 

attack, heart failure and broken hips. This trend continued for the 

year and sits alongside continued performance improvements. We 

were awarded accreditation with no conditions for our services by 

the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards in January 2015 for 

another three years. Our emphasis on patient safety and quality is 

reaping rewards for all our patients with gains in outcomes for them. 

At the end of June we have the best waiting times for any Queensland 

tertiary HHS in our emergency departments, for outpatient 

appointments and for elective surgery. And we saw more patients 

again than ever before. We saw more emergency department 

patients again, performed more surgeries and saw a big increase 

in outpatient appointments for our patients; 12,000 more than in 

the previous year. The number of patients admitted to our hospitals 

grew by another 7,000. Thousands of patients received faster care 

in our services from right across our health service and beyond.

Financially, we made a small surplus, and our average cost per 

weighted activity unit remains below the State’s by almost $200 

showing we use the resources made available to us efficiently. 

We earned additional recognition for our work to provide 

dental care, ‘Mums and Bubs’ support, and breast screens from 

Queensland Health.

We have also focused on other issues which are important to 

our patients including improving the timeliness of information 

provided to GPs and to patient complaints. 

We have invested in education, research and training. Our 

engagement with staff improved and the Working for Queensland 

Employee Opinion Survey results show greater levels of response 

and satisfaction of staff working within the HHS. The areas we 

worked on in year are seeing the best gains with a clear way 

forward for the next year. 

I am delighted that our focus on getting the infrastructure right for 

our communities, including on Palm Island, are showing tangible 

deliverables with the support, direction and involvement of 

communities.

Our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Leadership Advisory 

Committee has set a clear direction for improving cultural 

capability in its widest definition and with our Board’s 

infrastructure investment and focus we have the best 

opportunity in a generation to Closing the Gap faster.

The investment of prior-year operating surpluses is well underway 

and will benefit our communities, patients and staff. These include 

providing expanded outpatient space, a new research and education 

facility, and expanded and improved accommodation for services like 

renal dialysis and respiratory medicine. These benefits were made 

possible by my 5,000 hard-working colleagues and I thank them from 

the bottom of my heart for making these ambitions a reality.

The HHS has a very capable workforce at all levels. There is more 

to do to ensure we are sustainable in the very long term and that 

work is well underway. 

Overall a fabulous year and one our teams, partners, communities 

and the HHS leadership can be very proud of.
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Highlights 2014–2015

The first paediatric oncology 
day unit outside the south-
east corner of Queensland 
opens at The Townsville 
Hospital, keeping local children 
with cancer close to home.

The 1000th 
baby is born at 
the Townsville 
Birth Centre.

The Integrated Electronic Medical 
Record (ieMR) system goes ‘live’ at 
The Townsville Hospital marking the 
beginning of digital medical record 
keeping in the Townsville HHS.

The Townsville HHS celebrates more 
than 6,000 years of collective 
service when 584 staff receive 
length-of-service awards.

The Townsville Hospital’s 
paediatric intensive care 
unit officially opens with five 
dedicated paediatric intensive 
care beds in a stand-alone unit.

The Townsville Hospital  
becomes the only hospital  
outside the south-east corner to 
implant cardiac sub-cutaneous 
(under the skin) defibrillators.
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The Townsville HHS 
reduces elective 
surgery long-waits to 
zero across all three 
categories.

The Townsville HHS partners with 
the Australasian College of Health 
Service Management to recruit 
three university graduates to undertake 
extensive health management internships.

The $22.5 million, 45-bed sub-acute unit 
opens at The Townsville Hospital.

The Townsville Hospital performs 
its first cochlear implant.

The Townsville HHS receives a 
further four years’ unconditional 
accreditation for its standards of 
care from Australia’s principal health 
governing body, the Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards (ACHS).

The Townsville HHS 
achieves a $7.8 million 
surplus to benefit our 
communities. 

The Townsville HHS welcomes 70 
medical interns and 172 graduate 
nurses, midwives and dual nursing-
paramedics to its clinical workforce.
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Our Organisation
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The Townsville Hospital 
is the only tertiary 
referral hospital 

outside Queensland’s 
south-east corner
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The Townsville HHS’s Strategic Plan 2014–2018 set the direction and outlined the vision for our health service. The past year saw some real 

progress on our strategic pillars aimed to deliver the vision of ‘A healthy North Queensland’ which was developed with our communities, 

staff and stakeholder organisations. These achievements to date have included providing more care, faster and at a higher standard than 

ever before, investing in infrastructure, research, innovation and education, recruiting more frontline doctors, nurses and allied health 

professionals to provide care and achieving unconditional accreditation from the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards (ACHS). The 

2015 update to the strategic plan builds on this direction and vision. 

Vision
A healthy North Queensland.

Values
The Townsville HHS promotes the values of integrity, 

compassion, accountability, respect and engagement. 

These values mirror the Queensland public service values 

of customers first, ideas into action, unleash potential, be 

courageous and empower people.

Purpose
The Townsville HHS’s purpose is to build on the six key pillars 

for health care service delivery over four years 2014–2018.

The pillars are:

 Build healthier communities

 Focus on individual health outcomes

 Work collaboratively

 Provide safe, efficient, effective and 

sustainable services

 Maintain an exceptional workforce

 Lead excellence and innovation.

The pillars support the Queensland Health Strategic Plan 2014–

2018, the Queensland Plan and the Government Response to 

the Plan as outlined in its Objectives for the Community to 

strengthen our public health system and the Statement of 

Health Priorities.

Our Organisation
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• increasing workforce participation 

• ensuring safe, productive 
and fair workplaces

• stimulating economic growth 
and innovation

• delivering new infrastructure 
and investment

• protecting the 
Great Barrier Reef

• conserving nature and heritage  

• ensuring sustainable 
management of natural resources

• enabling responsible 
development

• ensuring an accessible and 
effective justice system

• providing an integrated and 
reliable transport network

• encouraging safer and 
inclusive communities

• building regions

Creating jobs and 
a diverse economy

Delivering quality 
frontline services

Protecting 
the environment

Building safe, caring and 
connected communities

• achieving better education 
and training outcomes

• strengthening our public health system

• providing responsive and integrated 
government services

• supporting disadvantaged Queenslanders 

Consultation

Integrity and accountability

The Queensland Government’s 
objectives for the community

12 Our Organisation



Queensland Government Statement 
of Health Priorities

Underpinning the Queensland Government’s objectives for the 

community are the Queensland Government’s priorities for health.

From left: Charters Towers registered nurse Sharon-Lea Hutchings, Townsville 
Hospital midwife Kerry Foster and Ingham Health Service registered nurse 
Montana White are part of the growth of the HHS clinical workforce 

Strengthening the nursing workforce

In 2014–2015, the Townsville HHS increased its nursing and 

midwifery full-time equivalent positions to 2,169 from 2,025 in 

2013–2014. This equated to 181 headcount. The HHS was strongly 

dedicated to increasing its graduate nurse intake employing 172 

graduate nurses, midwives and dual nurse-paramedics. This 

also highlighted the HHS’s commitment to ‘growing our own’ 

workforce with a significant number of graduates employed 

from JCU. These graduate nurses, midwives and dual nurse-

paramedics undertake direct or rotational placements in 

hospitals and health campuses across the HHS.

Improving patient safety

The Townsville HHS’s commitment to robust clinical governance 

was bolstered by the appointment of an Executive Director Clinical 

Governance during the year. This directorate has responsibility for 

safe patient care. Improvements in patient safety have included 

reducing the rate of health-care associated bloodstream 

infections from 2.0 infections to 1.1 infections per 10,000 bed 

days, and increasing hand-hygiene compliance from 73 per cent 

to 75 per cent.

Building adolescent mental health services

The Townsville HHS is the only hospital and health service providing 

inpatient care for adolescents living with mental illness outside the 

south-east corner of Queensland. The Josephine Sailor Adolescent 

Inpatient Unit and Day Service is an eight-bed facility which caters 

for adolescents aged between 12 and 18 years. The day-therapy 

program offers group-based therapy as well as individual therapy, 

family therapy and specific allied health assessments.

Greater investment in preventative health 

The Townsville HHS has a wide range of preventative health programs 

to support individuals and communities live healthy, fulfilled lives.

These include:

• child immunisations and opportunistic immunisation in 

paediatric settings 

• school-based youth nurses in secondary schools to support 

adolescent health and well-being

• general health and dental care, including nutrition screening, 

at the Cleveland Youth Detention Centre to support young 

offenders while in detention and as they prepare to re-enter 

the community 

• falls-prevention programs and screening for at-risk patients 

• free influenza vaccinations for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander people as part of Closing the Gap, pregnant women 

and people aged over 65 years 

• ‘Mums and Bubs’ home-visiting program which helps identify 

child development and feeding issues 

• antenatal assessment for women to support smoking cessation 

and assess the risk of depression and domestic violence 

• patient and staff smoking cessation support through free 

nicotine replacement therapy and counselling 

• Breast-screening services 

• Newborn hearing screening to identify conductive hearing 

problems and reduce the incidence of otitis media later in life

• Accreditation as a Baby Friendly Hospital promoting breast 

feeding to improve infant health.

Review contestability

The Townsville HHS is reviewing its Business Improvement 

practices in line with the Government Health Priorities.

Support Non-Government Organisations to provide 
long-day respite for the elderly

The Townsville HHS facilitates access to long-day respite for the 

elderly through communication at discharge, particularly from 

elder-care areas.
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Contribute to the Child Safety Reform Agenda

The Townsville HHS contributed to these reforms through:

• facilitating a Child Protection Reforms Roadshow

• implementing the Queensland Central Intake System for 

Child Protection Reporting

• incorporating a desktop icon on all child protection education 

material and reporting systems

• maintaining a staff education and training database

• joining the Townsville Regional Child and Family Committee 

and Townsville Family Support Alliance

• developing Townsville HHS policy and procedures for:

• paediatric procedure for the assessment and management 

of suspected child abuse or neglect

• acute management of children who are suspected or have 

been abused or neglected

• assessment and management of suspected child sexual 

assault or abuse (under 14 years of age).

Whole-of-Government 
plans
The Townsville HHS worked in partnership with both the 

Commonwealth and State Governments in delivering improved 

health outcomes for the community. During the year, the HHS 

delivered on the following key National Partnership Agreement 

(NPA) initiatives on Closing the Gap in Indigenous Health 

Outcomes, Improving Public Hospital Services, Mental Health 

and Treating More Public Dental Patients.

Closing the Gap on Indigenous Health Outcomes

The Townsville HHS has continued to deliver on its strategic priority 

to Closing the Gap. The HHS delivered the following programs under 

the umbrella of both the NPA and the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander Health Investment Strategy:

• Palm Island Multi-Disciplinary Allied Health Team

• Indigenous Hospital Liaison Services 

• Sexual Health Outreach Program 

• Queensland Health Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Cultural Capability Framework 2010-2033

• Mental Health Coordination

• Indigenous Alcohol, Tobacco and other Drugs Youth Program 

(Townsville)

• Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Service

• Townsville Hospital and Maternal Service

• Palm Island Young Parents Support Service 

• Palm Island and Townsville Maternal Health Service

• Sexual Health in Correctional Settings

• Indigenous Early Childhood

During the year, the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander women who were breast screened increased by 12 

per cent and the renal dialysis centre was refurbished at Joyce 

Palmer Health Service, now providing dialysis for eight patients 

per day.

Improving Public Hospital Services

The Townsville HHS continued its improvement in National 

Emergency Access Target (NEAT) performance, from 79 per cent 

in July 2014 to 91 per cent in June 2015, and continued to meet 

the National Elective Surgery Target (NEST) by treating all elective 

surgery patients within the clinically recommended times.

Mental Health

The rate of community follow up within one to seven days of 

discharge has improved from 77 per cent last year to 78 per cent, 

and the proportion of readmissions within 28 days to an acute 

mental health inpatient unit was maintained at 14 per cent.

Treating More Public Dental Patients

The Townsville HHS has maintained zero long waits for 

general dental care with all patients seen within the clinically 

recommended time of two years.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health worker Cassandra Bligh is an 
integral part of the HHS’s commitment to Closing the Gap 
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The Townsville 
HHS has continued 

to deliver on its 
strategic priority to 

Closing the Gap

Community health worker Melita Murphy is making a difference at the Joyce Palmer Health Service 
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Mobile dental van improves care on Palm Island 

A mobile dental van arrived on Palm Island in January 2015 

helping to promote the importance of mouth hygiene and 

deliver dental treatment to local school children.

Townsville Hospital and Health Service oral health services 

manager Chris Pittard said the dental van, which arrived 

at Bwgcolman Community School on 27 January this year, 

would help increase access to oral health services for the 

Palm Island community. 

“Having the van on the island is helping to reduce dental 

wait times and patient travel to Townsville,” Ms Pittard said. 

“Parents are encouraged to attend appointments with their 

children to help learn about oral health care and good oral 

hygiene,” she said. 

“A key challenge for our health workforce is to find creative 

ways to improve oral health and to raise awareness of the 

links between oral health and general health and the dental 

van has gone a long way to addressing this challenge on 

Palm Island.”

Build healthier communities 
• Provide safe, quality care for patients

• Focus on excellent health services and patient outcomes

• Reduce the gap in health outcomes for Indigenous people

• Promote healthy lifestyle choices to enhance individual health

• Promote wellness for the Townsville HHS workforce 

• Prevent potentially avoidable hospital admissions via early intervention

Strategic 
pillars

Dental assistant Sally Cowan works with local clients at the Palm Island dental van
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Sub-acute facility opens at The Townsville Hospital

The Townsville Hospital’s $22.5 million, 45-bed sub-acute care unit is focusing 

on getting patients back into their homes sooner.

Opening in October 2014 the unit, funded by the Commonwealth Government 

and the Townsville Hospital and Health Service, included the hospital’s GEM 

(geriatric evaluation and management) unit and additional rehabilitation beds.

The construction of the new facility followed the demolition of the old CSIRO 

building on the Eastern Campus of the hospital in 2013.

Townsville Hospital and Health Board chair John Bearne said the new facility 

was a home-like environment that helped patients learn how to live in their own 

homes safely. 

“The model of care helps patients restore and optimise their mobility, dexterity 

and capacity to live independently at home,” he said.

“Our population continues to grow and age and this unit is helping our elderly 

patients maintain their independence for longer.

“It also provides a state-of-the-art environment, including a gym, for our 

rehabilitation patients as they work their way back from injury, stroke and other 

debilitating conditions to an improved quality of life.”

The model of care called on the expertise of all disciplines including medical, 

nursing and allied health.

“This means patients can work with our doctors, nurses, physiotherapists and 

occupational therapists towards their individualised goals and go home from 

hospital, with greater independence, that bit faster,” Mr Bearne said.

Focus on 
individual 
health outcomes 
 Improve access and reduce 

waiting times in emergency 

departments, elective surgery, 

outpatients and specialist 

diagnostic services 

 Improve the patient journey by 

redesigning clinical pathways 

 Improve service delivery 

through public-private 

partnership opportunities 

 Enhance the patient 

experience

Strategic 
pillars

Helping patients return to independent living at the Townsville Sub-Acute Care Unit are, left to right, 
enrolled nurse advanced practice Linzie Dennis, ward administrator Bianca Bell and operational services 
officer Janet Lynch
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Putting people first at Townsville HHS 

In another Queensland first, the Townsville Hospital and 

Health Service is implementing an innovative approach to 

the care of its patients and staff.

Executive director nursing and midwifery Judy Morton said 

the Person-Centred Care rollout was a simple but very 

effective way of providing even better care for patients, their 

families and staff. 

“Person-Centred Care is about putting the patient at the 

centre of everything we do,” Ms Morton said.

“It’s about looking after our people because they care for 

our patients. It’s also about supporting the families of our 

patients and embedding them in all aspects of patient 

care.”

Townsville HHS chief executive Julia Squire said: “Person-

Centred Care is about recognising that each and every one 

of our 5,000 staff and every one of the 1,500 patients we 

provide care for every day plays a part in making sure we 

provide the best possible care to our patients both today 

and in future.”

Person-Centred Care project lead Jo Sherring said while 

the HHS provided amazing treatment to patients, Person-

Centred Care was about taking into account the little 

things that made people feel valued and ensured that our 

services were valued and trusted by patients, families, 

the wider community and staff.

“It ’s a fairly basic concept but when we are so busy, it 

can be easy to get caught up in treating just the physical 

symptoms of our patients,” Ms Sherring said.

“Often it isn’t the technical elements of treatments that 

are remembered by our patients, but about the dignity, 

compassion and respect they were shown while being cared 

for in our facilities. 

“Our staff come to work every day determined to do the 

absolute best for their patients and we aim to help them 

be the best they can be by providing support, education 

and training and embedding Person-Centred Care in 

everything we do.”

Work collaboratively
 Actively promote the public availability of Townsville HHS, performance information, clearly 

highlighting correlation with patient feedback data, management plans and engagement strategies

 Provide real-time mechanisms for meaningful patient feedback on their experience of Townsville HHS

 Maintain respectful and transparent relationships 

 Share responsibility with patients and other partners for health outcomes

 Value and work with our partners and stakeholders

Strategic 
pillars

Supporting Person-Centred Care is senior health worker Amanda Bruynesteyn and 
client Chyanne Thimble at the Joyce Palmer Health Service

18 Our Organisation



Provide safe, 
efficient, effective 
and sustainable 
services 
 Continue to provide a sustainable high-

quality operational environment able to 

adapt to changing community needs

 Provide a co-ordinated planning and 

performance management framework, 

with key performance indicators to 

support key decision-making, planning 

and continual improvement 

 Embed a culture of financial and 

performance accountability throughout 

the organisation 

 Embed service planning across the 

organisation to ensure informed 

decision-making and continual 

improvement about existing and future 

service provision

 Build a culture of commitment and 

accountability for the health, safety and 

well-being of all Townsville HHS workers

 Embrace the availability and use of 

technology

 Maximise the benefits of the funding 

flows available

Strategic 
pillars

Cochlear doctor starts at The 
Townsville Hospital

A Townsville-educated ear, nose and throat (ENT) specialist is head 
of the new cochlear implant service at The Townsville Hospital. 

Dr Shane Anderson, who completed his secondary schooling at 
Ignatius Park College and his medical degree at the University 
of Queensland, spent 14 months in the United States working 
intensively with world-renowned ear surgeon Professor John 
Dornhoffer before taking up a position in the Townsville HHS. 

“Surgery has always been my passion and to develop the very first 
cochlear implant service in the region has been a special thrill,” he said.

Townsville Hospital and Health Board chair John Bearne said the 
Board gave its support for the cochlear implant service to support 
babies who were born with profound deafness and adults where 
clinically appropriate.

“This means children no longer need to travel to Brisbane for this 
service,” Mr Bearne said.

“The introduction of the service was part of the Board’s strong 
commitment to driving local health care service delivery that 
benefitted individuals, families and communities.

“It is enormously satisfying for the Board to see a doctor like Dr 
Anderson join the ranks of our amazing hospital to make people’s 
lives better,” he said.

ENT surgeon Dr Shane Anderson is heading the new cochlear implant service at  
The Townsville Hospital
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Maintain an exceptional workforce 
 Invest in developing and expanding our workforce capability and fostering emerging talent

 Establish a framework to identify critical roles and develop succession management plans

 Encourage, empower and motivate our staff to add value to our health services

 Facilitate entry pathways to support the development of a diverse workforce

 Align workforce vacancies with future employees possessing the right skills

 Ensure the existing workforce has access to relevant training and development opportunities

 Ensure health and safety systems are aligned to meeting workforce and organisational needs

Strategic 
pillars

Health management interns – a first for Townsville HHS

In an exciting innovation for the Townsville Hospital and 

Health Service, a new Health Management Internship 

Program has recruited three university graduates to 

undertake extensive health management internships.

The Townsville HHS partnered with the Australasian College 

of Health Service Management in 2015 strengthening the tier 

of middle management across two years.

Chief executive Julia Squire said the internship program was 

part of the Board’s vision to build a workforce that retained 

the ‘best and brightest’ home-grown graduates, with an 

emphasis on recruiting local talent with a strong interest in 

health management.

“This program allows us to employ keen, young 

professionals with a strong interest in a health management 

career,” Mrs Squire said.

“In addition to boosting the local economy with local jobs 

for local graduates, we are also developing staff skilled in 

high-level management to ensure we continue to deliver 

sustainable, targeted, quality health care to our communities.”

The three interns are Billy Bragg, Coralie Scott and Amie 

Raymond. 

“Billy has a double sports science and business degree 

with honours in economics while Coralie and Amie have 

biomedical science degrees.

“As this is an exciting first for the Townsville HHS, we are looking 

forward to building on what we believe will be a successful 

graduate program in years to come,” Mrs Squire said.

A key platform of the Health Management Internship Program 

is to provide interns with the opportunity to develop skills, 

capabilities and knowledge required to start a career in 

managing health services.

From left: Amie Raymond, Billy Bragg 
and Coralie Scott are undertaking 
extensive health management 
internships at the Townsville HHS
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Lead excellence and innovation 
 Actively engage clinicians to achieve innovative models of care, including those that 

promote wellness in our communities

 Review services, and redesign where required, to ensure the right care at the right 

place and right time

 Identify, promote and implement evidenced-based solutions to address key health needs

 Develop a culture that encourages leadership, innovative processes and new ideas

 Promote the Townsville HHS as a leader in service provision excellence

Strategic 
pillars

Townsville HHS showcases excellence and innovation 

The Townsville HHS celebrated four finalists in the 2014 

Queensland Health Excellence Awards.

Hospital in the Home (HiTH), Ophthalmology, Biomedical 

Technology Service (BTS) and Townsville BreastScreen all 

made the shortlist for their outstanding work in demonstrating 

excellence, innovation and customer focus. 

Biomedical Technology Service (BTS) was a finalist for 

innovative water treatment solutions allowing more renal 

dialysis patients to receive treatment in their homes.

Area manager Nathan Norman said the team had to ‘think 

outside the box’ to keep more patients in their own homes and 

communities while undergoing dialysis. 

“Home and community-based dialysis offer significant 

advantages to both the patient and the HHS including lower 

operating costs and better quality of life,” Mr Norman said.

“Poor water quality has been our biggest challenge and our 

response has been to proactively and collaboratively find and 

build solutions for renal patients enabling them to stay in their 

homes and communities.”

In 2014, the Townsville Hospital BreastScreen team took its 

assessment service bush saving rural women thousands of 

kilometres in travel and time away from family.

BreastScreen senior medical officer Dr Janet Lengren said the 

outreach assessment clinics were held in Mount Isa for women 

living in remote parts of north-west Queensland.

 “Traditionally women living in remote communities like Mount Isa 

would have their screening through our mobile screening service 

and then receive a follow-up letter or phone call,” she said.

“We decided to invest in travel to Mount Isa for the clinics to 

save our patients the inconvenience and stress of a trip to 

Townsville. Our patients were so thrilled to be able to access 

this service without disruption to their lives,” she said.

Hospital in the Home (HiTH) medical officer Dr Michael Young 

said he was delighted the service had made the finals.

“We’re proud of the positive difference HiTH is making both to 

patients and to the hospital’s ability to treat the sickest people 

in house while keeping those who can get good care safely at 

home in the community,” he said.

HITH is a partnership between the Townsville HHS and Blue 

Care and allows for home visits up to three times a day.

“The service provides intravenous medication, wound dressings, 

allied health, pathology and general nursing care,” he said.

“Patients sleep better, eat what they enjoy and have the 

comfort of family and friends around them,” Dr Young said.

Hard work and dedication by the Townsville HHS’s 

ophthalmology team has significantly reduced the number of 

outpatients waiting longer than clinically recommended times. 

Ophthalmology staff specialist Dr Heathcote Wright said the 

team achieved its excellent results as the number of referrals 

to the service increased. 

“We scheduled additional clinics to meet the increased 

demand,” Dr Wright said.

“As well, we reviewed some of our processes which allowed us 

to improve the efficiency of each clinic, improved the patient 

experience and ensured fewer patients were unnecessarily 

placed on the ophthalmology wait list.”

Awardees, from left: Nathan Norman (BTS), Elizabeth Phillips (BreastScreen), 
Melita Van Egmond (Ophthalmology) and Dr Michael Young (HiTH)
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Research success at 
Townsville HHS
The HHS is building a national and international research reputation 
that attracts growing esteem and investment. The Board’s focus 
on developing research leadership, capacity and governance is 
beginning to demonstrate real achievements with the agreed 
research strategy, developing further academic partnerships and 
investments in leadership, ethics and capacity.

Well-designed research studies are essential to the progress of 
evidence-based health care and randomised controlled trials (RCT) 
provide the highest levels of evidence that allow improvements in 
health care to be made with evidence. The HHS’s research capacity 
continue to grow with 60 new research studies, including 18 RCTs, 
approved in 2014–2015.

Townsville Health Research Week, an annual joint initiative with JCU 
and the Northern Clinical Training Network, is an opportunity for 
HHS staff to showcase their research innovations and initiatives. 
The week-long event provides an avenue for local researchers to 
become known in their community and foster opportunities for 
collaboration. There were four keynote speakers and 75 abstracts 
featured during Townsville Health Research Week 2014.

The Board supported two funding rounds of more than $1 million 
to support 72 multi-disciplinary, collaborative research studies 
in 2014–2015. The organisation’s research publications continue 
to grow with more than 150 publications featured in national 
and international health literature in the past year. The HHS is 
continuing to build on embedding research as a core component 
of its business with an ongoing and robust investment in research 

resulting in improved, more cost-effective care.

Strategic risks, challenges 
and opportunities
Like health services worldwide Townsville HHS faces many 
inherent challenges in delivering the best possible health care 
and health outcomes to our community and has established 
a risk-management framework which enables innovation and 
opportunities to achieve the objectives and the vision articulated 
in the Townsville HHS Strategic Plan 2014–2018 (2015 Update). 

Balancing the degree of risk the HHS needed to take in order to create 
opportunities is at the forefront of all decisions made both to identify 
challenges and to strategically select the risks taken to pursue value. 

Townsville HHS has identified strategic risks relating to the 
following areas:

Delivering safe, efficient and effective services

Building a culture of commitment and accountability for the 
health, safety and wellbeing of patients, staff and visitors 
provides an environment in which services are delivered with 
confidence that they are safe, efficient and effective.

Planning for future changes in the health environment

Planning for and proactively managing future changes in the 
health and political landscape (including industrial reform, impact 
of private/public balance), capacity, demand, competition and 
purchased activity will ensure the achievement of performance 
targets and delivery of services are consistently achieved.

Complying with relevant standards and legislative 
requirements

Acting in accordance with legislative requirements, industry 
Regulations and Standards, internal Policies and Government 
Directives reduces exposure to legal penalties and strengthens 
our reputation as a leading provider of public health services. 
Managing compliance risk also provides assurance that the 
internal audit program is risk based and designed to evaluate and 

improve the effectiveness of governance processes.

Managing assets and technology

In many cases our existing infrastructure including buildings, 
equipment and information technology is nearing the end of 
its useful life and the design does not allow for adaptability 
to changing service needs. Prioritising asset and equipment 
replacement through risk-mitigation strategies ensures 
consideration of the latest technology and clinical environments 

for the provision of services.

Developing and expanding workforce capacity and capability

The very nature of health care and the rapidly changing service 
models and design of services require ongoing changes to 
workforce capability and capacity. Identifying workforce risks and 
incorporating them into the strategic planning process provides 
opportunities to develop strategies aligned with future workforce 
needs and factor challenges into resourcing.

Working collaboratively and engaging with our consumers 
and stakeholders

Sharing the responsibility for health outcomes by maintaining 
respectful and transparent relationships is fostered through 
seeking and placing value on feedback from, and engagement 
with, consumers and other stakeholders to improving the patient 
experience.

Securing our reputation as a leading tertiary and research 
institution

Enhancing health outcomes for the wider community and 
supporting evidence-based best-practice models requires 
development of a culture where clinicians are supported to seek 
innovation through research.

While managing these risks, Townsville HHS consistently 
considers its reputation and the impact of decisions we make to 
expose the organisation to just the right amount of risk needed to 
create opportunities.

22 Our Organisation



The Townsville Hospital 
and Health Board is 

dedicated to assisting 
local researchers assigning 

two funding rounds of 
more than $1 million

Townsville Hospital medical scientist Teal Mogford reviews blood films in the laboratory 
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About Townsville 
Hospital and 
Health Service
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The Townsville Hospital 
and Health Service 

serves a population of 
more than 240,000

Medical records administration officer Roslyn Schmid and Dr Ryan Faruque at the Charters Towers Hospital
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The Townsville HHS covers an area of more than 148,000 square kilometres, around 8.5 per cent of Queensland, and serves a 

population of more than 240,000. The catchment area and population of the Townsville HHS is more than 750,000 square kilometres 

and 650,000 people. The Townsville Hospital, the largest facility in the Townsville HHS, is the region’s only tertiary facility and 

serves as the main referral and teaching hospital north of Brisbane providing specialist services to north, north-west and far north 

Queensland. The Townsville HHS’s rural hospitals are pivotal to the delivery of health care to people living in rural and remote 

communities and offer general medicine, general surgery, obstetrics, emergency, outpatient and primary health services. 

About Townsville Hospital 
and Health Service

The Townsville Hospital and Health Service area

Cardwell – offers visiting 
physiotherapy, increased oral 
health, visiting midwifery and 
Indigenous health services

Ayr – currently the only rural facility offering planned 
birthing with 121 babies born during the year

Ingham – planning 
commences for the 
reintroduction of 
birthing

Charters Towers – $2.3 million 
refurbishment of Eventide Aged Care 
Facility completed; $1.2 million fire 
compliance upgrade underway

Palm Island – mobile dental and 
community health vans commence; 
Beryl Castors Home and Community 
Care Centre opens

Magnetic Island – offers community 
and primary health care services

Richmond – upgrades 
completed of 
emergency generator, 
security and main 
switchboard

Hughenden – commences 
outreach cardiology clinics

Home Hill – offers haemodialysis to patients 
as part of a satellite renal care service

Townsville
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Locations of our 
hospitals and community 
health campuses
• Ayr 

• Cardwell

• Charters Towers

• Home Hill 

• Hughenden

• Ingham

• Kirwan

• Magnetic Island

• North Ward

• Palm Island

• Richmond

• Townsville

• Vincent

Our residential aged 
care facilities
• Eventide (Charters Towers)

• Parklands (Townsville)

Specialty services
The Townsville HHS delivers a wide range of specialist services 

and operates the only tertiary hospital outside Queensland’s 

south-east corner. These specialty services include: cancer 

care, cardiology and cardiothoracic surgery, emergency 

medicine, gynaecology, hyperbaric medicine, specialist 

mental health care, neurology and neurosurgery, neonatal and 

paediatric intensive care, urology and vascular surgery.

Community health 
services 
The Townsville HHS proudly boasts robust community health 

services across its facilities that support patients, clients and 

consumers in a non-acute setting. These services include 

alcohol, tobacco, drugs and other drug services, sexual 

health, public health, home and community care, Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander health services, mental health, oral 

health and older persons health services.

Demography
Between 2012 and 2026, the population in the Townsville HHS is 
projected to increase by approximately 31.7 per cent to 308,000 
people. The projected increase is similar to the projected 
increase for Queensland of 31.6 per cent.

Of the Townsville HHS population in 2012, those aged zero–14 
years accounted for 20.7 per cent, 15–64 years accounted for 
67.7 per cent and 65 years and over accounted for 11.6 per cent. 
By 2026, the projections for the same age groupings are 19.9 per 
cent, 64.2 per cent and 15.9 per cent respectively.

In line with an ageing population, the number of people aged 
65–84 years is projected to increase by 79.8 per cent by 2026, 
and those aged 85 years and over, projected to almost double – 
a projected increase of 99.9 per cent. 

Within the current resident population, more than seven per 
cent is of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander origin, which is 
double the average for Queensland as a whole. Approximately 
12 per cent identified themselves as born outside Australia.

The HHS treated 74,317 patients across all of our facilities during 
the year. Of these more than 86 per cent were Townsville HHS 
residents and 12 per cent were residents of other HHSs within 
our tertiary referral catchment area.

Redevelopment
The Townsville Hospital’s $437 million redevelopment was 

completed in April 2015. Stages 3 and 4 of the redevelopment 

delivered a new 66-bed ward block which included maternity 

and gerontology, expansion and upgrade of the Pathology 

Laboratory, Townsville Cancer Centre expansion and the Clinical 

Services Support Building (CSSB). The completion of CSSB 

included new and refurbished space for essential support 

services including kitchen, mortuary and medical records. The 

45-bed Townsville Sub-Acute Care Unit opened with 30 beds in 

October 2014 increasing to 45 beds early in 2015. The Medium 

Secure Mental Health Unit is currently being refurbished. The final 

stage of The Townsville Hospital redevelopment program, which 

will be completed in 2017, includes a Planned Procedure Unit and 

upgraded central sterilising facilities.
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The Townsville HHS recorded a 
two-year surplus from 2012 to 
2014 in excess of $40 million 

to improve the health and well-
being of our communities

$3 million Palm Island accommodation (and van enclosure)

$500,000 Palm Island Mobile Health Clinic

$3 million sub-acute care development

$13.8 million IT digital hospital initiative (total value of $41 million)

$10 million Research, Education and Clinical Trials Centre

$4 million additional outpatient clinic space

$1.5 million paediatric ward refurbishment

$3 million Palm Island community clinic

$1 million staff amenities initiative

$2.5 million upgrade of renal and respiratory services

The mobile health clinic is providing health care to residents on Palm Island
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HHS activity snap shot

8,250 elective and 5,757 emergency surgical 
procedures at The Townsville Hospital

116,708 presentations to emergency departments

123,345 medical imaging examinations

5,840 staff

74,317 people admitted to our facilities

2,784 babies born

318,187 dispensed pharmaceuticals

2,659 newborn ‘healthy hearing’ screens

348,320 outpatient appointments

15,708 BreastScreens performed
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“With the click of a 
button, clinicians have 
immediate access to a 

patient’s history, allergies 
and hospital notes”

TTH emergency department registered nurse Courtney West
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Our Governance 
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Townsville Hospital and Health Board
The Townsville HHS is governed by the Townsville Hospital and Health Board (the Board). The Board is made up of members appointed 

by the Governor of Queensland, acting by, and with the advice of the Executive Council and under the provisions of the Hospital and 

Health Boards Act 2011 (the Act). The Governor approves the appointments based on the recommendation of the Minister for Health. 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the health service, establishing goals and objectives and monitoring 

performance in line with key government objectives and policies for health. The Board reports to the Queensland Minister for Health. 

The Board met 12 times during the year.

Our Governance

Seated from left: John Bearne, Lynette McLaughlin, Michelle Morton, Susan Phillips and Professor Ian Wronski. 
Standing from left: Glen Cerutti, Dr Eric Guazzo, Donald Whaleboat and Dr Kevin Arlett. Absent: Helen Towler.
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Board member profiles
John Bearne
Chair

John is an engineer who has specialised 

in construction for more than 40 years 

and is the founder of a North Queensland 

construction company. 

John is former Chair of the Jezzine 

Barracks Community Trust and served as 

a member of the steering committee and 

the inaugural Board Chair of the Australian 

Technical College North Queensland 

(2005–2008), known now as Tec-NQ.

John is a former President and Director of 

the Townsville Chamber of Commerce and 

former Chair and Director of Townsville 

Enterprise. He is the inaugural and current 

Chair of the Townsville Hospital and Health 

Service and a Director of the Townsville 

Hospital Foundation. John is a Fellow of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Michelle Morton
Deputy Chair

Michelle Morton is a Solicitor of the Supreme 

Court of Queensland, Managing Partner and 

Litigation/Workplace Relations Workgroup 

Partner at wilson/ryan/grose Lawyers.

Michelle is a Queensland Law Society 

accredited personal injuries specialist 

and accredited workplace relations 

specialist specialising in all aspects of 

workplace relations law including workers 

compensation, unfair dismissals, adverse 

actions and discrimination claims, 

preparation of employment contracts, 

policies and procedures and advice and 

assistance with workplace health and 

safety matters including prosecutions.

Michelle is currently the Deputy Chair of 

the Townsville Fire Limited and a member 

of the Advisory Board for the Salvation 

Army, Queensland Law Society, North 

Queensland Law Association and Townsville 

Solicitors Association.

In 2003, Michelle was awarded the 

Queensland Regional Women’sLawyer 

Award.

Dr Kevin Arlett
Dr Kevin Arlett is a general practice 

partner in the Townsville and Suburban 

Medical Practice and the team physician 

for the Townsville Fire basketball team 

where he practises and hones his 

special interest and expertise in sports 

medicine. 

Kevin is a fellow of the Royal Australian 

College of General Practice, current Chair 

of Northern Australia Primary Health 

Limited and previous Director and Chair 

of General Practice Queensland. 

Kevin is a Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors and is 

heavily involved in medical education 

speaking at conferences and events, 

especially around his experience as a 

high-level sports doctor.

Glen Cerutti
Glen is a Certified Practising Accountant, 

Fellow of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors, Fellow of the 

Tax Institute and Director of Coscer 

Accountants Pty Ltd.

Glen is an accountant and has worked in 

Ingham for more than 40 years. 

Glen has been active in community 

organisations in the Ingham area 

including Honorary Treasurer of the 

Development Bureau of Hinchinbrook 

and Cardwell Shires, Honorary Treasurer 

of the inaugural Australian Italian 

Festival Committee, Honorary Secretary 

of Brothers Football Club Ingham, 

Honorary Treasurer of the Ingham Red 

Shield Appeal, and a member of the 

Townsville Committee of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors.

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM has been in 

combined public/private neurosurgery 

practice based in Townsville since 1994 

and is the Director of Neurosurgery for 

the North Queensland region. 

Eric is a member of the Neurosurgical 

Society of Australasia, Associate 

Professor at the James Cook University 

Medical School, examiner for the Royal 

Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) 

and member of the Academy of Surgical 

Educators of the RACS and Deputy Chair 

of the Neurology/Neurosurgery Medical 

Assessment Tribunal for the Queensland 

Compensation Regulatory Authority. Eric 

is a Graduate of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors and has a degree 

in Business Management. He also has 

a strong interest and role in supporting 

health services in developing countries 

including Papua New Guinea. Eric was 

awarded the Order of Australia Medal 

(OAM) in June 2013 for his services 

to neurosurgery.

Lynette McLaughlin
Lyn McLaughlin is a primary school 

teacher who served as Mayor of Burdekin 

Shire Council from 2004 to 2012. She 

had previously been elected as a 

Councillor in 1994 and 1997. Throughout 

her involvement with Local Government, 

Lyn chaired and was a member of 

numerous Burdekin, regional, North 

Queensland and State committees 

including the Queensland Library Board, 

the North Queensland Local Government 

Association, and the Burdekin Local 

Disaster Management Group. 

Lyn is Chair of the Queensland Local 

Government Grants Commission, Deputy 

Chair of Regional Development Australia 

(Townsville and North West Queensland) 

and is a member of the Queensland 

Reconstruction Authority and James 

Cook University Council.
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Lyn has also served as president, 

secretary and treasurer of community, 

recreational and sporting organisations.

Susan Phillips
Susan Phillips is owner/operator of 

Charters Towers Self Storage and Board 

member of the Self Storage Association 

of Australasia. Susan is a member of the 

Advisory Committee for the Dalrymple 

Trade Training Centre. She has been 

heavily involved in tourism in the region 

and played an active role in her local 

communities in other Australian states 

and territories.

Susan has been a member of the 

Townsville Enterprise Tourism Advisory 

Committee, Townsville Enterprise 

Drive Tourism and Signage Committee, 

Queensland Information Centres’ 

Association and the Great Tropical 

Drive Steering Committee. She has also 

been a member of Queensland Small 

Business Advisory Committee and was 

President of Charters Towers Chamber of 

Commerce and Mines. 

In 2006, Susan was awarded the Richard 

Power Memorial Award for the Most 

Outstanding Contribution to Tourism.

Helen Towler
Helen Towler has more than 30 years 

of experience as a registered nurse 

and midwife in both public and private 

sectors. Helen worked clinically in 

midwifery, cardio-thoracics, palliative 

care and medical nursing before moving 

into nursing management, change 

management, nursing education, 

workforce planning and strategy 

coordination with Queensland Health. 

Since 2012, Helen has worked as 

a clinical lecturer for the School of 

Nursing, Midwifery and Social Work at 

the University of Queensland. Helen 

has a Graduate Certificate in Health 

Management and Masters of Business 

Administration. She is a member of 

the Australian College of Nursing, the 

Australian Nurse Teachers Society 

and the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors.

Helen served on the Board from 10 

October 2014 to 17 May 2015.

Robert ‘Donald’ Whaleboat
Donald Whaleboat is a Senior Lecturer 

at the College of Medicine and Dentistry, 

JCU, where he plays a key role in the 

planning, development and delivery of 

the Indigenous health MBBS curriculum. 

He is also instrumental to establishing 

and maintaining processes for 

community engagement and partnership 

between the university, community and 

health sector to develop a future health 

workforce. 

Donald has worked for more than 20 

years in primary health care and health 

promotion, with particular focus on the 

health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander peoples. 

Donald is currently Chairperson of 

the Townsville Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Corporation for Health 

Services. He has a Masters of Public 

Health, Bachelor of Applied Science and 

Certificate in Governance.

Professor Ian Wronski AO
Professor Ian Wronski AO is Deputy Vice 

Chancellor of the Division of Tropical 

Health and Medicine at JCU. He is a Fellow 

of the Faculty of Public Health Medicine, 

Fellow of the Australian College of Rural 

and Remote Medicine and Fellow of the 

Australian College of Tropical Medicine.

Ian is currently Chair of the Australian 

Council of Pro Vice Chancellors and 

Deans of Health Sciences, Queensland 

Clinical Education and Training Council 

and a Board Member of the Asia-Pacific 

Economic Cooperation - Life Sciences 

Innovation Forum, and was previously 

President of the Australian College of 

Rural and Remote Medicine 2000-2003. 

Ian was made an Officer of the Order 

of Australia in the Queen’s Birthday 

Honours 2014 for his distinguished 

service to higher education, particularly 

in the areas of tropical and rural health 

and the health of Indigenous Australians.

Non-Board Members of Sub-
Committees
The membership of the Board Sub-

Committees includes non-Board 

members in a voluntary capacity. 

These members bring expertise to the 

committees and make a significant 

and valued contribution to Board Sub-

Committee objectives.
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Audit Sub-Committee
The Audit Sub-Committee provides independent assurance and 

assistance to the Board on:

• risk, control and compliance frameworks and

• external accountability responsibilities as provided in the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial Accountability 

Regulation 2009 and the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2009.

The Audit Sub-Committee meets bi-monthly or as required by 

the Chair. The function of the Audit Sub-Committee is to:

• assess the adequacy of Townsville HHS financial statements, 

having regard to:

• the appropriateness of the accounting practices used and 

compliance with prescribed accounting standards under 

the Financial Accountability Act 2009

• external audits of Townsville HHS financial statements 

and information provided by the Townsville HHS about the 

accuracy and completeness of the financial statements

• monitor Townsville HHS compliance with its obligation to 

establish and maintain an internal control structure and 

systems of risk management

• ensure policies and procedures are in place and comply with 

the Financial Accountability Act 2009

• establish an internal audit function for the Townsville HHS 

under the Financial and Performance Management Standard 

2009

• oversee the relationship between the Townsville HHS and the 

Queensland Audit Office (QAO)

• assess external audit reports for the Townsville HHS and the 

adequacy of actions taken by it as a result of the reports

• assess complex or unusual transactions or any material 

deviation from budget

• monitor the adequacy of the Townsville HHS’s management of 

legal and compliance risk and internal compliance systems.

Achievements of the Audit Sub-Committee

Achievements of the Audit Sub-Committee include:

• working with the internal auditors to complete the third-year 

audit program on time and within budget

• completion of 12 internal audits

• contract register oversight

• unqualified auditor opinion on last external audit

• continued development of a comprehensive 12-month audit 

schedule and an audit outline cycle for the next two years

• development and implementation of a new risk-management 

framework within The Townsville HHS.

The Audit Sub-Committee assists the Board by providing advice 

and assurance in the discharge of its responsibilities through 

effective oversight of the risk, control and compliance frameworks 

and fiscal responsibilities underpinning The Townsville 

HHS’s corporate governance, as required under the Financial 

Accountability Act 2009 and other prescribed legislation.

The Audit Sub-Committee operates under a charter and has due 

regard to the Queensland Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines: 

Improving Accountability and Performance published in June 

2012. The Chair of the Committee provides a report to the Board 

about the issues and outcomes of each meeting.

Membership of the Audit Sub-Committee comprised three Board 

members and one external representative:

• Dr Eric Guazzo – Chair;

• Mrs Susan Phillips – Deputy Chair;

• Mr John Bearne and

• Mr Bill Buckby (non-Board Member).

To fully utilise the technical knowledge and experience that 

our internal and external auditors possess, the Audit Sub-

Committee’s work is supported by a number of regular attendees 

at its meetings including our outsourced internal auditor Mr 

Sean Rooney of PwC, QAO’s contracted external auditor Mr Ian 

Beaton, Mr Matthew Savage and Mr Mike Reid of Ernst & Young.

In 2014–2015, the Audit Sub-Committee met seven times and 

reviewed numerous matters including the new Risk Management 

Framework Implementation Plan, internal and external audit 

reports, financial statements and the internal audit plan of 

2015–2016.

Internal audit
To ensure the effective, efficient and economic operation of 

the internal audit function, the Townsville HHS internal audit 

operates under its own charter and reports directly to the 

Audit Sub-Committee. The charter aligns with the International 

Standards for Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

developed by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The primary role of internal audit is to conduct independent, 

objective and risk-based assurance activities. The scope of the 

work is set out in the approved Internal Audit Management Plan 

2012–2016 and detailed in the internal audit plan 2014–2015. 

The program was delivered through an outsourced contractual 

arrangement with PwC.

In line with its charter and having due regard to Queensland 

Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines, the Audit Sub-

Committee oversaw the internal audit program, including 

the review of report findings and management responses. 

The areas audited during 2014–2015 included procurement, 
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performance management and workforce planning, private 

practice arrangements, privacy and records management, 

asset management and controlled drugs management.

Executive Sub-Committee
The Executive Sub-Committee supports the Board in its role 

of controlling the Townsville HHS by working with the Health 

Service Chief Executive (HSCE) to progress strategic issues 

identified by the Board and strengthening the relationship 

between the Board and the HSCE to ensure accountability in the 

delivery of services by the Townsville HHS. During the year the 

Executive Sub-Committee oversaw performance, planning and 

engagement for the Townsville HHS.

On 1 July 2014, the Townsville HHS became a prescribed 

employer, and the Executive Sub-Committee has guided 

the HHS executive through its first year of assuming ongoing 

management for its staff, having oversight of human resources 

strategy, delegations, and policies.

Finance Sub-Committee
The Finance Sub-Committee advised the Board on matters including 

strategic financial and capital planning, asset management and 

costing, revenue and budgeting including:

• assessing the Townsville HHS budget to ensure consistency 

with operational objectives and funding

• monitoring the Townsville HHS cash flow and financial and 

operating performance

• monitoring the Townsville HSS financial systems, regarding 

its operational requirements and obligations under the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009 

• assessing financial risks or concerns that impact the financial 

performance and reporting obligations and how the risks are 

being managed.

Achievements of the Finance Sub-Committee include:

• refinement of reporting to the Board to allow for enhanced 

decision-making ability 

• continued focus on strategic financial issues facing the 

Townsville HHS

• $7.8 million budget surplus whilst achieving clinical 

activity targets.

Governance 
Sub-Committee
The key functions of this committee are to assist the Board 

in developing its and the HHS’s approach to governance and 

related matters and to exercise powers delegated by the Board 

regarding good governance of the Board and the HHS.

Safety and Quality 
Sub-Committee
The Safety and Quality Sub-Committee advises the Board on 

matters relating to the safety and quality of health services, 

and promotes improvements in the safety and quality of health 

services, by monitoring the Townsville HHS’s governance 

arrangements relating to the safety and quality of health 

services, monitoring the safety and quality of health services 

being provided by the Townsville HHS, and collaborating with 

other safety and quality committees.

During the year some key achievements of the Safety and 

Quality Sub-Committee have been in overseeing:

• accreditation of Townsville HHS by the ACHS against the 

EQuIPNational Accreditation program;

• implementation of “Ryan’s Rule” which allows patients, 

families and carers to escalate concerns about a patient in 

hospital who is getting worse;

• introduction of Person-Centred Care, putting patients at the 

centre of everything we do, looking after our people because 

they look after our patients and embedding family/carers in 

all aspects of care.

Risk management
The Townsville HHS’s Risk Management Framework complies 

with the Financial and Performance Management Standard 

2009 and is based on the International Standard AS/NZS ISO 

31000: 2009 Risk Management – Principles and Guidelines.

The Townsville HHS has three interconnected registers to 

monitor operational, tactical and strategic risks. Registers are 

updated and reviewed at a minimum of three times per year, 

or as driven by business need. Effective risk monitoring is 

achieved through regular reporting to the Hospital Executive 

with the Board and the Audit Sub-Committee having oversight 

of the process and the strategic risk register.

The Townsville HHS is committed to ensuring that the 

Risk Management Framework is firmly embedded into all 

business, planning and decision-making processes. In order 
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to operationalise the Risk Management Framework across the 

organisation, Service Group Risk Champions were provided 

with training on the framework during 2014–2015. During 

2015–2016, the Townsville HHS will focus on ensuring that 

all staff responsible for assessing and managing risks (Risk 

Owners) have the appropriate knowledge and skills to do this 

consistent with the requirements of the new framework.

External scrutiny
The operations of the Townsville HHS are subject to regular 

scrutiny from external agencies. These include but are not 

limited to:

• ACHS

• Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Authority

• Coroner

• Crime and Corruption Commission

• Medical Colleges

• National Association of Testing Authorities Australia

• Office of the Health Ombudsman 

• Postgraduate Medical Education Council of Queensland

• QAO

The Townsville HHS also maintains accreditation status for:

• Parklands and Eventide residential aged care facilities through 

the Australian Aged Care Quality Agency

• Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative Australia

• medical college reviews.

The Townsville HHS governance framework supports internal 

mechanisms to monitor and report on corrective actions taken 

to implement recommendations made from external agencies.

In 2014–2015, Parliamentary reports tabled by the Auditor-

General which considered the performance of the health 

services more broadly included:

• Emergency Department Performance Reporting (Report 3 

2014–2015)

• Results of audit: Hospital and Health Service entities 2013–2014.

The Townsville HHS considered the findings and 

recommendations contained in these reports and, where 

appropriate, has taken action to implement recommendations 

or address issues raised.

Townsville HHS Executive
The HSCE is responsible for the operationalisation of the 

Board’s strategic direction and for the day-to-day running of 

the HHS. The HSCE reports directly to the Board. 

Julia Squire joined the Townsville HHS in November 2012 

as Health Service Chief Executive.

Julia has a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Geography, a postgraduate 

Diploma in Health Services Management, and is a Member of 

the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Julia has been a Health Service Chief Executive since 1999, 

working at Executive and Board levels for 20 years with a 

health management career spanning 28 years. 

She has worked at Department and National levels in 

senior positions in policy and change management, 

predominantly in the United Kingdom National Health 

Service, until her move to Townsville.

In the Townsville HHS, the senior management team is made 

up of the HSCE, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Finance Officer, 

Executive Directors and Service Group Directors. These are: 

HSCE Mrs Julia Squire, Chief Operating Officer Mr Kieran Keyes, 

Chief Finance Officer Mr Shaun Eldridge, five Executive Directors 

(ED): ED Medical Services Dr Andrew Johnson, ED Nursing Ms 

Judy Morton, ED Clinical Governance Ms Lisa Davies Jones, ED 

Human Resources and Engagement Mr Patrick Sheehan and ED 

Programmes Management Ms Danielle Hornsby.

Service groups 
As part of its commitment to ensure streamlined and 

coordinated health care service delivery and optimum patient 

care, the Townsville HHS has six service groups: Health and 

Well Being, Indigenous, Medical, Mental Health, Rural Hospitals 

and Surgical. They are supported in their operations by the 

Commercial Services Group. 

The Service Group Directors are: Surgical Ms Vicki Carson 

(acting), Mental Health Mr Michael Catt, Rural Hospitals Ms 

Sara Shaughnessy, Health and Well Being Ms Katrina Roberts 

(acting), Indigenous Ms Liza Tomlinson, Medical Ms Valerie 

Gilmore. The Commercial Services Director is Mr Scott Goddard.

The service groups are responsible for the diverse and 

comprehensive range of services that include: internal medicine, 

cancer services, emergency medicine, general and specialist 

surgery, pharmacy, child, adolescent and youth health and 

mental health, cardiac and critical care and rural, remote and 

Indigenous health care.
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Information systems 
and recordkeeping
The Public Records Act 2002, Information Standard 40: 

Recordkeeping (IS40) and Information Standard 31: Retention 

and Disposal of Public Records (IS31) provides overarching 

governance for recordkeeping practices within the Townsville 

HHS. The Queensland State Archives provide additional 

guidelines relevant to retention and disposal.

Training is available to all staff regarding security, privacy 

and confidentiality, and records management at orientation, 

department inductions and at regular sessions through the 

Staff Development Unit. These sessions outline the roles 

and responsibilities of staff when managing clinical and 

administrative records.

Administrative records are managed within an electronic 

document record management system across the Executive 

and Service Group management areas. Local administrative 

records procedures are in place to support staff.

In March 2015, the Integrated Electronic Medical Record 

(ieMR) went live at TTH. The ieMR now provides the previous 

paper-based patient record in an electronic format. This will 

enable clinicians and other staff to improve patient safety 

and the quality of care.

Phase 1 and Phase 2 were rolled out simultaneously, 

which provided the following functions: online clinical 

information system, document scanning, progress notes, risk 

assessments, alerts and allergies, paediatric growth charts 

and renal care plans. 

The Townsville HHS understands the importance of a digital 

environment in both clinical and non-clinical settings. From July 

2015, the HHS will commence the next phases of the $40 million 

Digital Healthcare Program, which builds upon the ieMR. The 

HHS’s commitment of approximately $14 million towards this 

program will include the additional capabilities of enterprise 

scheduling, clinical notes, perinatal and emergency medical 

records, community health and outpatient clinic records, 

critical care and theatre/perioperative records, population 

health and workforce/capacity management systems.

The full scope of the Digital Healthcare Program over the next 

three years will deliver benefits to patient care that include 

improving safety and quality outcomes, reduced medication 

errors and improved turnaround of pathology and radiology 

tests. Replacing paper-based processes and previously 

disconnected clinical systems with an integrated suite of 

information systems will deliver significant benefits across 

the whole HHS and Townsville community.

Townsville Hospital’s youngest patient 
makes history with new medical records

Little Teyon Bin Dol doesn’t know it yet, but he is the 

first person in the Townsville HHS to have their entire 

hospital patient record stored electronically.

The Townsville Hospital’s Integrated Electronic Medical 

Record (ieMR) went live in March 2015.

Executive sponsor ieMR Danielle Hornsby said access to 

electronic records improved patient care by giving fast 

and efficient access to a patient’s record.

“With the click of a button, clinicians have immediate 

access to a patient’s history, allergies and hospital notes,” 

Ms Hornsby said.

The Townsville Hospital joined Cairns and Mackay Base 

Hospitals, Princess Alexandra Hospital, Royal Brisbane 

and Women’s Hospital and the Lady Cilento Children’s 

Hospital in rolling out the system.

“The system integrates patient records from across other 

Queensland hospitals which have rolled out ieMR,” Ms 

Hornsby said.

“As the tertiary referral centre for north Queensland this 

means clinicians have immediate access to records for 

patients who have been transferred from Cairns and 

Mackay Hospitals.”

Teyon Bin Dol, pictured with parents Kriss Lloyd and Richard Bin Dol, is the first 
patient of the Townsville HHS to have an electronic medical record
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Across all combined 
categories the percentage 

of specialist outpatient 
long waits reduced from 
56 percent in July 2014 to 
10 per cent in June 2015

Clinical nurse Alison Barra tends to a patient at the Ingham Health Service 
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During the year the Townsville HHS’s primary focus was on improving specialist outpatient and emergency department performance, 

and continuing to maintain the elective surgery targets. At the same time, patient outcomes and the quality of services improved and 

the organisation achieved full accreditation status from the ACHS. 

Specialist outpatient
During the year the Townsville HHS increased its commitment to 

reduce the number of patients waiting longer than the clinically 

recommended time for a specialist outpatient appointment. 

This dedicated and focused effort resulted in the Townsville 

HHS ranking first in performance across the State’s tertiary 

facilities, reducing the number of long-wait patients from 

8,090 in July 2014 to 1,026 in June 2015. An overall reduction of 

87 per cent (7,064 patients), while at the same time seeing four 

per cent or approximately 12,000 more patients than last year.

Across all combined categories the percentage of long waits 

reduced from 56 percent in July 2014 to 10 per cent in June 2015. 

The individual category performance breakdown is category one 

46 per cent to zero per cent, category two 67 per cent to 15 per 

cent, and category three from 45 per cent to six per cent.

This impressive improvement in performance was supported 

by innovative and complementary models of care including 

orthopaedic and neurosurgical physiotherapy screening clinics, 

and audiology screening for ear, nose and throat patients.

National Emergency 
Access Target (NEAT)
The Department of Health expanded the reporting of NEAT to include 

more rural facilities. These changes were made retrospectively 

with effect from 1 January 2014. For the Townsville HHS, the in-

scope rural facilities are Ayr Hospital, Charters Towers Hospital, 

Ingham Hospital and Joyce Palmer Health Service, as well as TTH. 

These changes have facilitated more accurate and comprehensive 

reporting of NEAT performance across the Townsville HHS, and has 

enhanced public accountability. 

NEAT performance continues to be a priority of the Townsville 

HHS with significant improvement made in the percentage 

of patients treated and departing from the emergency 

department within four hours across all facilities. In the 

2014 calendar year, 81 per cent of patients departed within 

four hours. This increased to 91 per cent in 2015, currently 

meeting the target of 90 per cent.

Our rural facilities have continued their strong performance, 

exceeding 95 per cent for 2015. TTH performance has improved 

from 74 percent in 2014 to 88 per cent in 2015 (as at June), while 

experiencing three per cent growth in emergency department 

attendances, and continuing to see all patients within the 

recommended times.

Performance at TTH has improved due to a wide range of 

initiatives implemented in year including opening of the surgical 

clinical decisions unit to assist with the flow of emergency surgery 

patients, establishing a medical clinical decisions unit for acute 

treatment of medical patients with an anticipated length of stay 

of five days or less, and additional emergency department staff 

including physician assistants, nurse practitioners and resident 

medical officers. 

Ongoing strategies that support NEAT at TTH include the 

continuation of the Hospital in the Home program, senior 

intervention from triage roles, patient flow escalation processes 

and review of clinical referral processes.

Non-financial performance 
summary
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National Elective 
Surgery Target (NEST)

The Townsville HHS reduced its elective surgery long waits 

to zero, treating all patients across all categories within the 

clinically recommended times. Demand for both elective 

and emergency surgery at TTH has increased over the year 

by five per cent and 18 per cent respectively.

The increase in median wait time for elective surgery from 29 to 

37 days has resulted from a higher proportion of category two 

and three patients being treated during the year.

Healthcare-associated 
staphylococcus 
(including methicillin 
resistant staphylococcus 
aureus) bacteraemia

The rate of health care-associated bloodstream infections 

has reduced across the HHS from 2.0 infections to 1.1 

infections per 10,000 bed days. For TTH alone, the rate 

reduced from 2.2 infections to 1.2 infections per 10,000 

bed days, falling to below the target of 2.0 infections per 

10,000 bed days.

This improvement was due to a greater awareness of device-

related bloodstream infections, an extensive education program 

delivered to staff including invasive device master classes and 

competency review.

Hospital readmissions
During the year the Townsville HHS reduced the readmission 

rate of patients with an in-scope chronic condition to any 

Queensland public hospital within 28 days of discharge by 

2.5 per cent (data is available to April 2015). The in-scope 

chronic conditions include asthma, congestive cardiac failure, 

diabetes complications, chronic obstructive pulmonary 

disease and angina.

Readmission to the acute mental health inpatient unit continues 

to be reviewed within a complex case model format to ensure 

enhanced clinical management plans are in place for consumers.

Length of stay
A selection of diagnosis related groups (DRG) was monitored in 

year against the state average length of stay. For all 16 DRGs, the 

length of stay of patients across the Townsville HHS was below 

the state average.

HHS 
Average 

days

State 
Average 

days

E65A chronic obstructive airways 
disease W catastrophic CC 6.08 9.06

E65B chronic obstructive airways 
disease WO catastrophic CC 3.21 5.47

F62A heart failure and shock W 
catastrophic CC 7.37 10.67

F62B heart failure and shock WO 
catastrophic CC 3.20 5.68

G07B appendectomy WO malignancy 
or peritonitis WO catastrophic or 
severe CC

2.04 2.18

H08B laparoscopic cholecystectomy 
WO closed common duct exploration 
WO catastrophic or severe CC

1.68 1.79

I03B hip replacement WO 
catastrophic or severe CC 5.77 6.44

I04B knee replacement WO 
catastrophic or severe CC 4.63 5.87

J64B cellulitis WO catastrophic or 
severe CC 2.99 4.06

L63A kidney and urinary tract 
infections W catastrophic or severe CC 5.40 8.11

L63B kidney and urinary tract 
infections WO catastrophic or 
severe CC

2.40 3.51

M02B transurethral prostatectomy 
WO catastrophic or severe CC 2.27 2.72

N04B hysterectomy for non-
malignancy WO catastrophic or 
severe CC

2.42 3.25

N06B female reproductive system 
reconstructive procedures WO 
catastrophic or severe CC

1.14 2.46

O01C caesarean delivery WO 
catastrophic or severe CC 3.26 4.30

O60C vaginal delivery WO 
catastrophic or severe CC 1.97 3.00

W with

WO without

CC complications and comorbidities
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Service delivery standards
The following table outlines the Townsville HHS’s non-financial performance.

Notes: 1. Calendar year target. 2. The Department of Health made retrospective changes from 1 January 2014 for NEAT reporting. In scope facilities within the Townsville HHS include Ayr 
Hospital, Charters Towers Hospital, Ingham Hospital, Joyce Palmer Health Service and The Townsville Hospital. 3. 2015 result is interim to June 2015. 4. HHS wide rate. 5. Data available 
to May 2015. 6. Data available to April 2015.

Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within recommended timeframes:

Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 100% 100%

Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 80% 85% 85%

Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 75% 75% 76%

Category 4 ( within 60 minutes) 70% 77% 78%

Category 5 (within 120 minutes) 70% 91% 92%

Percentage of emergency department attendances who 
depart within four hours of their arrival in the department

1,2,3 2014: 83% 
2015: 90%

2014: 81% 
2015: 91%

Median wait time for treatment in emergency 
departments (minutes)

20 14 14

Median wait time for elective surgery (days) 25 36 37

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

Category 1 (30 days) 100% 100% 100% 

Category 2 (90 days) 97% 100% 100% 

Category 3 (365 days) 98% 100% 100% 

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended times:

Category 1 (30 days) 27% 99% 100%

Category 2 (90 days) 20% 60% 85%

Category 3 (365 days) 90% 81% 94%

Total weighted activity units:

Acute Inpatients 68,212 73,001 69,112

Outpatients 14,872 16,978 19,737

Sub-acute 7,936 7,796 7,529

Emergency Department 14,541 14,615 14,531

Mental Health 11,214 10,161 8,417

Interventions and Procedures 12,068 11,829 10,541

Average cost per weighted activity unit for Activity 
Based Funding facilities

$4,480 $4,262 $4,479

Rate of healthcare associated Staphylococcus aureus 
(including MRSA) bloodstream (SAB) infections / 
10,000 acute public hospital patient days

4 <2.0 1.0 1.1

Number of in-home visits, families with newborns 5,132 5,002 5,118

Rate of community follow-up within 1–7 days following 
discharge from an acute mental health inpatient unit

5 >60% 78% 78%

Proportion of readmissions to an acute mental health 
inpatient unit within 28 days of discharge

6 <12% 13% 14%

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration >66,489 54,348 68,759

Notes 2014–2015 
Target

2014–2015 
Estimated Actual

2014–2015 
Actual
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The Townsville HHS achieved another strong financial outcome for the year ended 30 June 2015 recording an $7.8 million surplus. This 

represents one per cent of our revenue base of $805 million.

Where the funds 
came from
Townsville HHS income from all funding sources was more than 

$805 million. Funding was primarily (69 per cent) derived from 

the activity-based funding model with the Department of Health 

purchasing 128,453 weighted activity units of service with 

129,867 actually delivered.

User Charges - 8.5%
Block Funding - 12.8%
ABF Funding - 68.8%
State Grants - 6.1%
Locally Receipted 
Grants - 3.8%

How the surplus 
was achieved
From a normal operating perspective the organisation ended 

the year in a break-even position. The surplus was achieved 

as a result of funding received to support our asset base for 

which expenditure was capitalised, and in recognising an asset 

(building) which was donated to the Townsville HHS of $4 million.

Where the funds 
were spent
The total expenses for the Townsville HHS for 2014–2015 were 

$797 million, averaging a $2.1 million per day spend on servicing 

clients in Townsville and other regions of North Queensland. 

The largest percentage of spend was against labour costs which 

includes clinicians and support staff (70 per cent).

Employee Expenses - 69.9%
Supplies and Services - 24.6%%
Grants and Subsidies - 0.6%
Depreciation and Amortisation - 4.5%
Impairment Losses - 0.1%
Other Expenses - 0.3%

Outlook for the future
The initial outlook is that 2015–2016 will see more financial 

pressure exerted on HHS operations. Whilst the surplus generated 

this year was not of a cash nature, the organisation will continue 

to reinvest surplus funds from the prior financial years into capital 

projects to ensure the HHS is well placed to meet the ongoing 

needs of our growing community into the future.

Financial performance summary
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Where the funds 
were spent
The total expenses for the Townsville HHS for 2014–2015 were 

$797 million, averaging a $2.1 million per day spend on servicing 

clients in Townsville and other regions of North Queensland. 

The largest percentage of spend was against labour costs which 

includes clinicians and support staff (70 per cent).

Employee Expenses - 69.9%
Supplies and Services - 24.6%%
Grants and Subsidies - 0.6%
Depreciation and Amortisation - 4.5%
Impairment Losses - 0.1%
Other Expenses - 0.3%

Outlook for the future
The initial outlook is that 2015–2016 will see more financial 

pressure exerted on HHS operations. Whilst the surplus generated 

this year was not of a cash nature, the organisation will continue 

to reinvest surplus funds from the prior financial years into capital 

projects to ensure the HHS is well placed to meet the ongoing 

needs of our growing community into the future.

Statement of 
comprehensive 
income for the year 
ended 30 June 2015

 
2015 actual 

$000

Income

User charges 766,722

Grants and contributions 32,328

Other revenue 6,134

Total Income 805,184

Expenses

Health Service employee expenses –

Employee expenses (557,280)

Supplies and services (189,525)

Grant and subsidies (4,657)

Depreciation and amortisation (36,132)

Bad and Doubtful Debts (847)

Other expenses (8,941)

Total Expenses (797,382)

Operating result for the year 7,802

Statement of financial 
position for the year 
ended 30 June 2015

 
2015 actual 

$000

Assets

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 71,778 

Trade and other receivables 16,760 

Inventories 6,118 

Prepayments 517

Total Current Assets 95,173

Non Current Assets

Property, Plant and equipment 728,140

Intangibles 244

Total Non Current Assets 728,384

Total Assets 823,557

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 29,609

Accrued employee benefits 16,030

Unearned revenue 1,211

Total Current Liabilities 46,850

Total Liabilities 46,850

Net Assets 776,707

Equity

Contributed equity 660,342

Asset Revaluation Surplus 68,303

Accumulated Surpluss 48,062

Total Equity 776,707
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As at 30 June 2015, 
Townsville HHS had 

employed more than 
400 additional staff, 

with more than 50 per 
cent of these being 
nurses and doctors

Registered nurse Trevor Bailey outside the 28-bed Ingham Hospital
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Public Sector Ethics 
Act 1994

Townsville HHS has implemented a suite of initiatives to support 

and promote the ethical principles and values encapsulated in 

the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994. Central to these initiatives are 

the Code of Conduct for Queensland Public Service (the Code) 

and the Queensland Health Ethics, Integrity and Accountability 

e-learning program which is available to Townsville HHS 

employees through the iLearn site. As at 1 June 2015, Townsville 

HHS completion compliance for this program was 76.5 per cent. 

Additionally, the implementation of the Code is augmented by the 

Townsville HHS values of Integrity, Compassion, Accountability, 

Respect, and Engagement (ICARE) which are central to the 

Townsville HHS Strategic Plan 2014–2018 (2015 Update).

The Code and the Townsville HHS values are reflected in new 

employee orientation and local work unit inductions. The annual 

Performance Assessment and Development process includes 

clearly articulated reviews of individual performance against 

Townsville HHS values.

Workforce planning, 
attraction and retention, 
and performance

Workforce profile

The Townsville HHS employs more than 5,800 staff by headcount. 

In June 2015, the workforce profile was:

MORHI Headcount %

Managerial and Clerical 869 14.9

Medical incl. VMO 657 11.2

Nursing 2,698 46.2

Operational 892 15.3

Trades and Artisans 43 0.7

Professional and Technical 682 11.7

Total 5,840 100

MOHRI Occupied FTE %

Managerial and Clerical 774 15.6

Medical incl. VMO 589 11.9

Nursing 2,169 43.9

Operational 758 15.3

Trade and Artisans 43 0.9

Professional and Technical 614 12.4

Total 4,946 100

Our People
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Additional profile information includes:

• 30.8 per cent of the workforce has tenure of two years or less.

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff comprise 3.02 per 

cent of the workforce.

• 8 per cent of Townsville HHS workforce is 60 years or older.

• 11.78 per cent of the workforce comes from a non-English 

speaking background.

Gardener Paul O’Keefe keeps the grounds ship shape at the Richmond  
Health Service 

Workforce planning

Workforce planning, including ensuring a supply of the right 

numbers of staff across all workstreams, recruitment, retention, 

education and development, is essential to the HHS. During 

2014–2015, the foundations were laid for better planning with 

schools, TAFE and universities, to identify developing service 

models and new roles to support them and to plan to at least 

a 10-year timescale. We have worked on recruitment and 

retention strategies and engaging with our workforce to ensure 

we attract and retain the best people. This will be a key focus for 

the organisation in 2015–2016.

A dedicated reporting schedule has been introduced for 

the streams and service group plans. Occurring at set times 

throughout the year, the report highlights changes and 

developments that have occurred since the finalisation of the 

workforce plan and updates and recommendations on identified 

strategies and actions.

Key strategies to attract and retain a skilled and capable 

workforce include:

• Improved promotion and awareness of careers

• More effective marketing of roles

• Increased career awareness and promotion through career 

expos and developing a consistent approach to engaging 

with local schools and education institutions

• Development and promoting the employment brand strategy 

including employee value proposition

• Recruitment processes and training are being reviewed to 

establish a streamlined attraction process and support for 

line managers reaching target markets

• Strategies to support the ageing workforce including 

workability surveys to improve work environments for ageing 

staff as well as promote safe work practices and reduce 

physical impacts

• Developing leadership and management capability as a vital 

retention strategy

• Enhancement of workforce engagement and workplace 

culture to encourage inclusiveness. Person-centred 

organisational culture is central to this workforce retention 

and improvement initiative

• Implementation of initiatives to support and develop topic 

experts and motivated champions within the organisation

• Ensuring the workforce is supported, recognised and engaged 

through new recognition and celebration initiatives.

Flexible working arrangements

The HHS has maintained flexible working arrangements for 

staff for many years. Particularly popular with staff returning 

to work from maternity leave, part-time employment is a well-

accepted flexibility arrangement with 38.15 per cent of the 

workforce choosing this option. In addition, the HHS provides 

job sharing, nine-day fortnight rostered day-off and accrued 

day-off arrangements which enable staff to negotiate flexible 

work start and finish times. Where appropriate, depending on 

operational demands, the HHS supports working from home 

and telecommuting flexibility arrangements.
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Leadership development

Health LEADS has been selected by the HHS as the preferred 

leadership framework. It will be implemented during 2015–

2016. Health LEADS is guided by the principle that leadership 

belongs to everyone and focuses on the following areas; Leads 

self, Engage others, Achieve outcomes, Drives innovation, and 

Shapes systems. Dedicated training programs will be developed 

and delivered for the HHS. 

Focused on supporting local talent, growing our own, and 

providing leadership and management capability development 

the organisation partnered with the Australasian College 

of Health Service Management and LaTrobe University to 

implement a Health Management Internship Program, a system-

wide initiative. Three health management interns commenced in 

January 2015 and will be with the organisation for two years, in 

which time they will complete a Masters in Health Administration 

applying theoretical learning in a practical form throughout 

the HHS. It is anticipated that the HHS will continue with this 

partnership. 

Additional training programs for the health service focusing 

on mentoring, coaching, leadership and management will 

be developed and implemented during 2015–2016. The HHS 

continues to access several clinical management development 

programs to strengthen the HHS clinical leadership.

Industrial and employee relations

The HHS has established a series of engagement forums to 

encourage and support consultation with the workforce and 

the unions which represent the staff. The local engagement 

meetings are stream-based and are overseen by the HHS peak 

consultative forum, the Health Service Engagement Meeting. 

The HHS continues to nurture a mature, respectful and 

transparent relationship with the unions which represent the 

workforce and provides encouragement to staff to engage with 

their respective bodies. The Human Resources and Engagement 

Directorate promotes an open relationship with local union 

organisers with the aim of resolving issues and concerns early. 

Early retirement, redundancy 
and retrenchment

During the period, three employees received redundancy 

packages at a cost of $359,553.38. Employees who were 

offered a redundancy package and did not accept were offered 

Employee Requiring Placement case management for a set 

period of time, where reasonable attempts were made to find 

alternative employment placements. At the conclusion of this 

period, and where it is deemed that continued attempts of 

ongoing placement were no longer appropriate, employees yet 

to be placed were retrenched and paid a retrenchment package. 

During the period no employees received a retrenchment 

package under these conditions.
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General information
The financial report covers Townsville Hospital and Health Service as an individual entity. The financial report is presented in Australian 

dollars, which are Townsville Hospital and Health Service’s functional and presentation currency. Amounts included in the financial 

statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Townsville Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent entity.

The head office and principal place of business of the agency is:

100 Angus Smith Drive, 

Townsville Qld 4810

For information in relation to Townsville Hospital and Health Service’s financial statements, email THSD-Feedback@health.qld.gov.au 

or visit the Townsville Hospital and Health Service website at http://www.health.qld.gov.au/townsville
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Income

User charges 3 766,722 724,105 

Grants and other contributions 4 32,328 23,692 

Other revenue 5 6,134 5,995 

Total Income 805,184 753,792 

Expenses

Health Service employee expenses 6 - (513,051)

Employee expenses 7 (557,280) (2,242)

Supplies and services 8 (189,525) (171,887)

Grants and subsidies (4,657) (4,517)

Depreciation and amortisation (36,132) (31,393)

Bad and Doubtful debts (847) (1,458)

Other expenses 9 (8,941) (9,338)

Total Expenses (797,382) (733,886)

Operating result for the year 7,802 19,906 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 5,534 62,769 

Other Comprehensive Income for the year 5,534 62,769 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 13,336 82,675 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2015

Note 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 71,778 79,739 

Trade and other receivables 11 16,760 12,523 

Inventories 6,118 6,002 

Prepayments 517 413 

Total Current Assets 95,173 98,677 

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 728,140 571,346 

Intangibles 244 131 

Total Non-Current Assets 728,384 571,477 

Total Assets 823,557 670,154 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 29,609 49,394 

Accrued employee benefits 2(s) 16,030 17 

Unearned revenue 1,211 630 

Total Current Liabilities 46,850 50,041 

Total Liabilities 46,850 50,041 

Net Assets 776,707 620,113 

Equity

Contributed Equity 13 660,342 517,084 

Asset Revaluation Surplus 14 68,303 62,769 

Accumulated Surpluses 48,062 40,260 

Total Equity 776,707 620,113 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note Contributed 
equity $’000

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 
$’000

Accumulated 
surplus 

$’000

Total equity 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2013 445,626 - 20,354 465,980 

Operating result for the year - - 19,906 19,906

Other comprehensive income for the year 14 - 62,769 - 62,769

Total comprehensive income for the year - 62,769 19,906 82,675

Transactions with members in their capacity as members:

Non Appropriated Equity Asset Transfers 13 85,739 - - 85,739

Non Appropriated Equity Injections 13 17,111 - - 17,111

Non Appropriated Equity Withdrawals 13 (31,392) - - (31,392)

Balance at 30 June 2014 517,084 62,769 40,260 620,113

Note Contributed 
equity $’000

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 
$’000

Accumulated 
surplus 

$’000

Total equity 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2014 517,084 62,769 40,260 620,113 

Operating result for the year - - 7,802 7,802-

Other comprehensive income for the year 14 - 5,534 - 5,534

Total comprehensive income for the year - 5,534 7,802 13,336

Transactions with members in their capacity as members:

Non Appropriated Equity Asset Transfers 13 165,970 - - 165,970

Non Appropriated Equity Injections 13 13,420 - - 13,420

Non Appropriated Equity Withdrawals 13 (36,132) - - (36,132)

Balance at 30 June 2015 660,342 68,303 48,062 776,707

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

User charges 730,034 695,412 

Grants and other contributions 24,789 22,717 

Interest received 423 309 

Other revenue 5,615 5,163 

Employee expenses (561,497) (515,406)

Supplies and services (196,539) (175,124)

Grants and subsidies (4,656) (4,517)

Other expenses (1,715) (2,344)

Net cash from operating activities 23 (3,546) 26,210 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (17,853) (20,392)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 529 

Net cash used in investing activities (17,835) (19,863)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from equity injections 13,420 17,111 

Net cash from financing activities 13,420 17,111 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7,961) 23,458 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 79,739 56,281 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 10 71,778 79,739 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2015

Note 1. Objectives and Strategic Priorities
The Townsville Hospital and Health Service (Townsville HHS) is an independent statutory body established on 1 July 2012 under 

the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 (The Act). The Townsville HHS is governed by the Board, which is accountable to the local 

community and the Minister for Health.

The Townsville HHS covers an area of more than 148,000 square kilometres, around 8.5 per cent of Queensland, and serves a 

population of more than 240,000. The catchment area and population of the Townsville HHS is more than 750,000 square kilometres 

and 650,000 people. Townsville HHS includes the Local Government Areas of Burdekin, Charters Towers, Flinders, Hinchinbrook, 

Palm Island, Richmond and Townsville and shares its borders with Cairns and Hinterland HHS, North West HHS, Central West HHS and 

Mackay HHS. 

Please refer to the Townsville Hospital and Health Service Annual Report 2014–2015 for more information.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009. 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards. In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting 

Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2015, and other authoritative pronouncements.

With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, as Townsville HHS is a not-for-profit statutory 

body it has applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit entities. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used.

(b) Reporting Entity

The Townsville HHS does not control other entities. The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, 

liabilities and equity of the Townsville HHS.

(c) User Charges and Fees, and Other Revenue

Revenue from sale of goods or rendering of a service is recognised when the service is rendered and can be measured reliably with 

a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either invoicing for related goods/services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue.

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received, or receivable.

Revenue in this category primarily consists of hospital fees (private patients), reimbursements of pharmaceutical benefits and the 

sale of goods and services.

(d) Grants and Other Contributions

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the 

Townsville HHS obtains control over them (control is generally obtained at the time of receipt). Where grants are received that are 

reciprocal in nature, revenue is progressively recognised as it is earned, according to the terms of the funding agreements.
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Where the Townsville HHS receives contributions of assets from the government, these assets are recognised at fair value on the date 

of acquisition in the Statement of Financial Position. A corresponding amount is recognised as an equity contribution. 

Where the Townsville HHS receives contributions of assets from other parties, these assets are recognised at fair value on the date of 

acquisition in the Statement of Financial Position. A corresponding amount of revenue is recognised as a donation.

Townsville HHS receives corporate services support from the Department for no cost. Corporate services received include payroll 

services and finance transactional services (including accounts payable). As the fair value of these services is unable to be estimated 

reliably, no associated revenue or expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(e) Special Payments

Special payments include ex-gratia expenditure and other expenditure that Townsville HHS is not contractually or legally obligated 

to make to other parties. In compliance with the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, Townsville HHS maintains a 

register setting out details of all special payments exceeding $5,000. The total of all special payments (including those of $5,000 or 

less) is disclosed separately within Note 9.

(f ) Fiduciary and Trust Transactions and Balances

General Trust transactions incorporate monies received through fundraising activities, donations, and bequests which are held by the 

Townsville HHS for a stipulated purpose, as well as cash contributions arising from the Right of Private Practice arrangements that are 

specified for study, education and research activities.

Townsville HHS acts in a trust capacity in relation to patient trust accounts. Although patient funds are not controlled by Townsville 

HHS, trust activities are included in the audit performed annually by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cheques receipted at 30 June as well as deposits with financial institutions.

(h) Receivables

Trade debtors are recognised at the nominal amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed purchase/contract 

price. Settlement of these amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date.

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision being made for impairment. All known bad debts were written-

off as at 30 June. Increases in the allowance for impairment are based on loss events that have occurred.

(i) Impairment

Throughout the financial year, the Townsville HHS assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 

financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, changes in debtor credit ratings and 

current outstanding accounts over 120 days. The allowance for impairment reflects the Townsville HHS’s assessment of the credit 

risk associated with the receivables balances and is determined based on historical rates of bad debts by category as well as 

management’s judgement. All known bad debts are written off when identified. Refer to Note 11.

(j) Inventories

Inventories consist mainly of pharmaceutical and clinical supplies held for distribution. Inventories are measured at cost following 

periodic assessments for obsolescence. Where damaged or expired items have been identified, provisions are made for impairment.

(k) Acquisitions of Assets

Actual cost is used for initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value given as 

consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting assets ready for use.

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland public sector entity, the acquisition cost is recognised at fair value at the 

date of valuation (date of transfer), less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses where applicable.
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(l) Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to more than the following thresholds, and with a useful life 

of more than one year, are recognised at acquisition. Items below these values are expensed on acquisition.

Class Threshold

Buildings $10,000

Land $1

Plant and Equipment $5,000

Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that 

merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and tear etc.) is expensed. 

(m) Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value and 

Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are reported at their revalued 

amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses where applicable.

In respect of these asset classes, the cost of items acquired during the financial year have been judged by management to materially 

represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period. Plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation 

and any impairment in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector.

Land and building revaluations

For financial reporting purposes, the land and building revaluation process is overseen by the Board and coordinated by Senior 

Management and support staff.

The fair values reported by Townsville HHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of available and 

relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are kept materially up-to-date via 

the application of relevant indices. 

The independent valuers/quantity surveyors provide assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to 

the relevant assets.

Land is measured at fair value using indexation or asset specific independent revaluations, being provided by an independent 

quantity surveyor, Davis Langdon Australia Pty Ltd. Independent asset specific revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity 

to ensure land assets are carried at fair value. In accordance with Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policy, the independent 

revaluations occur at least once every five years. In the off cycle year’s, indexation is applied where there is no evidence of significant 

market fluctuations in land prices. 

Land indices are based on actual market movements for the relevant locations and asset category and are applied to the fair value 

of land assets on hand.

Reflecting the specialised nature of health service buildings, fair value is determined by applying depreciated replacement cost 

methodology or an index which approximates movement in market prices for construction labour and other key resource inputs, 

as well as changes in design standards as at reporting date. Both methodologies are executed on behalf of Townsville HHS by an 

independent quantity surveyor Davis Langdon Australia Pty Ltd. 

Depreciated replacement cost is determined as the replacement cost less the cost to bring an asset to current standards. In determining 

the depreciated replacement cost, the independent quantity surveyors consider a number of factors such as age, gross floor area, 

number of floors, number of lifts and staircases, functionality and physical condition. In assessing the condition of a building the 

following ratings are applied by the quantity surveyors.
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Condition Ratings

Category Condition Criteria

1 Very good condition Only normal maintenance required

2 Minor defects only Minor maintenance required (up to 5% of capital replacement cost)

3 Maintenance required to bring 
to acceptable level of service

Significant maintenance required (up to 50% of capital 
replacement cost)

4 Requires renewal Complete renewal of internal fit out and engineering services required (up to 70% of 
capital replacement cost)

5 Asset unserviceable Complete asset replacement required

The cost to bring to current standards is the estimated cost of refurbishing the asset to bring it to current design standards and in an 

‘as new’ condition. This estimated cost is linked to the condition factor of the building assessed by the quantity surveyor. It is also 

representative of the deemed remaining useful life of the building. The condition of the building is based on visual inspection, asset 

condition data, guidance from asset managers and previous reports.

For residential buildings held by Townsville HHS on separate land titles, fair value is determined by reference to independent market 

revaluations.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, 

except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying 

amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to 

that asset class.

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and the 

change in the estimate of remaining useful life.

Assets under construction are not revalued until they are ready for use. 

(n) Depreciation

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the revalued amount or net cost of each asset 

(respectively), less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Townsville HHS.

Assets under construction are not depreciated until ready for use.

Any expenditure that increases the capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful 

life of the asset to the Townsville HHS. 

For each class of depreciable assets the following depreciation rates are used:

Class Rate

Buildings 2.5% to 3.3%

Plant and equipment 5% to 33.33%

(o) Payables

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price, 

gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

(p) Unearned Revenue

Monies received in advance primarily for services yet to be provided are represented as unearned revenue.

(q) Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 

of another entity. Townsville HHS holds financial instruments in the form of cash, receivables and payables.
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Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when Townsville HHS becomes party to 

the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Classification

Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows: 

>> Cash and cash equivalents

>> Receivables – held at amortised cost

>> Payables – held at amortised cost

Townsville HHS does not enter into transactions for speculative purposes, or for hedging. Apart from cash and cash equivalents, 

Townsville HHS holds no financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss.

(r) Employee Benefits

(i) Department employees engaged as contractors up to the period ending 30 June 2014

Townsville HHS became a prescribed employer on 1 July 2014. Staff engaged during 2013–2014 as contractors supplied by the 

Department are now classed as directly engaged employees of Townsville HHS.

(ii) Townsville HHS directly engaged employees

As at 30 June 2015, 4,945 (2014: 5) employees were directly engaged employees of Townsville HHS.

Due to the change in status to that of a prescribed employer, all staff previously categorised and expensed as department employees 

engaged as contractors are now classified as Townsville HHS directly engaged employees. From 1 July 2014 Townsville HHS assumed 

its obligations as the employer of these directly engaged employees.

(iii) Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current salary rates. 

As Townsville HHS expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at 

undiscounted amounts.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to 

continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability 

for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

(iv) Annual and Long Service Leave

Townsville HHS participates in the Annual Leave Central Scheme and the Long Service Leave Scheme.

Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme and the Long Service Leave Central Scheme, levies are payable 

by Townsville HHS to cover the cost of employees’ annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. These 

levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are 

claimed from the schemes quarterly in arrears which is currently facilitated by the Department.

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in the financial statements of Townsville HHS, as the liability for 

these schemes is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of 

Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

(v) Superannuation

Employer superannuation contributions are regarded as employee benefits.

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 

at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are 

payable and the obligation of Townsville HHS is limited to its contribution to QSuper. Therefore no liability is recognised for accruing 

superannuation benefits in these financial statements. 
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(vi) Key Management Personnel and Remuneration

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with Section 5 of the Financial Reporting 

Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies issued by Queensland Treasury. Refer to Note 16 for the disclosures on key 

management personnel and remuneration.

(s) Prescribed Employer Status

As per AASB 119 Employee Expenses, effective 1 July 2014, Townsville HHS classified employee costs as ‘Employee Expenses’ instead 

of ‘Contract Labour.’ At the 30th June 2015 accrued salaries and wages (for wages and salaries earned but not paid as at 30th June 

2015) are represented in the Statement of Financial Position as ‘accrued employee benefits.’ At 30th June 2014, accrued contract 

labour was recognised within ‘trade and other payables.’

(t) Insurance

The Insurance Arrangements for Public Health Entities Health Service Directive (Directive number QH-HSD-011:2012) enables Hospital 

and Health Services to be named insured parties under the Department’s policy. For the 2014–2015 policy year, the premium was 

allocated to each HHS according to the underlying risk of an individual insured party. The Hospital and Health Service premiums cover 

claims from 1 July 2012. Pre 1 July 2012 claims remain the responsibility of the Department.

Property and general losses above a $10,000 threshold are insured through the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). 

Health litigation payments above a $20,000 threshold and associated legal fees are also insured through QGIF. Premiums are 

calculated by QGIF on a risk assessed basis.

The Department of Health pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland on behalf of all Hospital and Health Services in respect of its 

obligations for employee compensation. These costs are reimbursed on a monthly basis to the Department. 

Payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees, but are not counted in an employee’s 

remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as employee related expenses.

(u) Taxation

The Townsville HHS is exempted from income tax under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempted from other forms of 

Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Service Tax (GST).

All FBT and GST reporting to the Commonwealth is managed centrally by the Department, with payments/receipts made on behalf of 

Townsville HHS reimbursed to/from the Department on a monthly basis. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the ATO, are 

recognised on this basis. 

Both Townsville HHS and the Department satisfy section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 (Cth) (the 

GST Act). Consequently they were able, with other Hospital and Health Services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under Division 

149 of the GST Act. Any transactions between the members of the “group” do not attract GST.

Revenues and expenses are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 

the ATO. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. 

Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. 

(v) Issuance of Financial Statements

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chair of the Townsville HHS Board, the Chief Executive and the Chief Finance 

Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

(w) New and Revised Accounting Standards

The Townsville HHS did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2014–2015. The Australian Accounting Standard 

applicable for the first time as from 2014–2015 that had the most significant impact on the Townsville HHS financial statements is 

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting.
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AASB 1055 became effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. In response to this new standard, the Townsville 

HHS has included in these financial statements a comprehensive new note ‘Budget vs Actual Comparison’ (note 24). This note discloses 

the Townsville HHS’s original published budgeted figures for 2014–2015 compared to the actual results, with explanations of major 

variances, in respect to the Townsville HHS’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of 

Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows. 

The following new and revised standards also became applicable to the Townsville HHS as from reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2015:

>> AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

>> AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

>> AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

>> AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities 

>> AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 

108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

>> AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

>> AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 

[AASB 1 & AASB 11] 

>> AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortisation [AASB 116 & AASB 138] 

>> AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 

>> AASB 2014-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Agriculture: Bearer Plants [AASB 101, AASB 116, AASB 117, AASB 

123, AASB 136, AASB 140 & AASB 141] 

>> AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

>> AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 

(December 2009) and AASB (December 2010) [AASB 9 (December 2009) & AASB 9 (December 2010)]

>> AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, AASB 

127 & AASB 128] 

>> AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & AASB 128] 

>> AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-

14 Cycle [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 7, AASB 11, AASB 110, AASB 119. AASB 121. AASB 133. AASB 134, AASB 137 & AASB 

140)

>> AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 

101, AASB 134 & AASB 1049] 

>> AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality 

>> AASB 2015-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception [AASB 

10, AASB 12 & AASB 128] 

>> AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public 

Sector Entities [AASB 10, AASB 124 & AASB 1049] 

The Townsville HHS has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. The adoption of these Accounting Standards 

and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the HHS.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted, as 

they are either not applicable to Townsville HHS’s activities, or have no material impact on Townsville HHS.
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Note 3. User Charges

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Service Income and Recoveries 8,276 5,749 

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme 11,791 12,451 

Public Patient Income 8,649 7,448 

Private Hospital Bed Income 12,175 10,475 

Other Hospital Services 17,967 15,972 

Department of Health - ABF 346,700 329,585 

Australian Government - ABF 181,364 166,712 

Department of Health - Block Funding 64,345 49,082 

Australian Government - Block Funding 33,879 28,680 

Department of Health - Tertiary Training 18,159 2,699 

Australian Government - Tertiary Training 2,243 1,606 

Department of Health - System Funding 25,042 62,254 

Department of Health - Depreciation Revenue 36,132 31,392 

766,722 724,105 

Note 4. Grants and Other Contributions

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Australian Government - Specific purpose recurrent grants 24,491 20,081 

Australian Government - Specific purpose capital grants 723 945 

Other grants 2,938 2,248 

Donations other 238 344 

Donations non-current physical assets 3,938 74 

32,328 23,692 

Note 5. Other Revenue

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Interest 423 309 

Rental income 196 227 

Sale proceeds of non-capitalised assets 8 10 

Health service employee expense recoveries 2,292 2,564 

Fees, Charges & Recoveries 3,200 2,755 

Gains 15 130

6,134 5,995 
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Note 6. Health Service Employee Expenses

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Health Service employee expense - 508,989 

Health Service employee related expense - 4,062 

- 513,051 

Health service employee expenses represent the cost of Department of Health (DoH) employees contracted to the Townsville HHS to 

provide public health services for the year ended 30 June 2014. 

As established under The Act, up to and including 30 June 2014, DoH was the employer for all health service employees (excluding 

persons appointed as a Health Executive) and recovered all employee expenses and associated on-costs from Townsville HHS. All 

expenses of employees directly engaged by the Townsville HHS are shown at Note 7. Refer to Note 2 (r).

Note 7. Employee Expenses

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Employee Expenses 557,280 2,242 

At 30 June 2015, the number of full-time equivalent staff employed by the Townsville HHS and DoH (on behalf of the Townsville HHS) 

was 4,945 (30 June 2014:5).

Note 8. Supplies and Services

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Consultants and contractors 13,918 11,201 

Electricity and other energy 7,914 8,100 

Patient travel 12,452 10,597 

Other travel 2,728 2,326 

Water 1,214 1,153 

Building services 1,241 1,207 

Computer services 3,851 3,303 

Motor vehicles 424 526 

Communications 9,161 6,528 

Repairs and maintenance 13,062 14,842 

Expenses relating to capital works 1,105 993 

Operating lease rentals 4,054 3,728 

Drugs 26,552 27,110 

Clinical supplies and services 71,075 63,476 

Catering and domestic supplies 15,271 11,587 

Other 5,503 5,210 

189,525 171,887 
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Note 9. Other Expenses

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Audit fees* 715 776 

Bank fees 20 18 

Insurance** 6,713 7,041 

Inventory written off 74 50 

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets 262 219 

Special payments - ex-gratia payments*** 56 79 

Other legal costs 351 544 

Journals and subscriptions 280 225 

Advertising 173 174 

Interpreter fees 146 52 

Fees, Fines and Other Charges 151 160 

8,941 9,338 

* During the financial year the $222,738 fees were paid or payable for services provided by Queensland Audit Office, the auditor of 

the agency (2014: $284,170), as well as $477,380 for internal audit services (2014: $489,500). The Queensland Audit Office quoted 

external audit fees of $236,000 for the 2015 financial year (2014: $239,000).

** Includes Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF) Refer to Note 2 (t).

*** Special payments ex-gratia includes gifts and settlements in the nature of damages including loss or damage to a patient’s 

personal effect. Refer to Note 2 (e).

Note 10. Current Assets – Cash and Cash Equivalents

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 62,193 69,582 

Restricted Cash* 9,585 10,157 

71,778 79,739 

*Refer to Note 19 

Note 11. Current Assets – Trade and Other Receivables

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Trade receivables 18,210 13,975 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (2,335) (2,458)

GST input tax credits receivable 1,251 1,223 

GST payable (366) (217)

885 1,006 

16,760 12,523 

The ageing of the impaired receivables provided for above are shown in Note 15.
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Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Opening balance 2,458 1,798 

Amounts written-off during the year (695) (494)

Increase in allowance recognised in operating result 572 1,154 

Closing balance 2,335 2,458 

Note 12. Non-Current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Land - at fair value 31,035 32,485 

Buildings - at fair value 937,358 746,841 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (299,831) (266,697)

637,527 480,144 

Plant and equipment - at cost 129,295 123,101 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (71,635) (64,665)

57,660 58,436 

Capital works in progress - at cost 1,918 281 

728,140 571,346 

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Land $’000
Buildings 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Capital works 
in progress 

$’000
Total $’000

Balance at 1 July 2013 34,251 347,066 53,289 192 434,798 

Additions/Transfers - 90,586 15,525 89 106,200 

Disposals - (167) (223) - (390)

Revaluation increments 429 62,340 - - 62,769 

Transfers of capital works in progress (2,195) 129 1,365 - (701)

Depreciation expense - (19,810) (11,520) - (31,330)

Balance at 30 June 2014 32,485 480,144 58,436 281 571,346 

Additions/Transfers - 178,960 11,752 3,448 194,160 

Disposals (1,665) (4,955) (202) - (6,822)

Revaluation increments 215 5,319 - - 5,534 

Transfers of capital works in progress - 1,811 - (1,811) -

Depreciation expense - (23,752) (12,326) - (36,078)

Balance at 30 June 2015 31,035 637,527 57,660 1,918 728,140 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 

at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable 

inputs or estimated using another valuation technique. Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics 

of the assets/liabilities being valued, and include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and residual dwellings. Unobservable 

inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being 
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valued. Significant unobservable inputs used by Townsville HHS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made to observable data 

to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital-site residential facilities, including historical and current 

construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs 

are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefit by using 

the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

All assets and liabilities of Townsville HHS for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

Level 1 – represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

Level 2 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included in level 1) 

that are observable, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs. 

2015 Level 1 $’000 Level 2 $’000 Level 3 $’000 Total $’000

Assets

Land 31,035 - 31,035

Buildings 1,614 635,913 637,527

Total Assets 32,649 635,913 668,562

There were no significant transfers between levels during the financial year.

Description
Type for 
significant Level 3, 
unobservable inputs

Unobservable inputs 
quantitative measures 
Ranges used in valuations

Unobservable inputs general effect on fair value 
measurement

Buildings- Health 
Services facilities (fair 
value $635m)

Replacement cost 
estimate

Hospitals $6,000 to 
$194,494,000

Other buildings $4,000 to 
$23,220,000

Replacement cost is based on tender pricing 
and historical building data. An increase in the 
estimated replacement costs would increase the 
fair value of assets. A decrease in the estimated 
replacement costs would reduce the fair value of 
assets.

Remaining lives 1 year to 39 years

The remaining useful lives are based on industry 
benchmarks. An increase in the estimated 
remaining useful lives would increase the fair value 
of the assets. A decrease in the estimated useful 
lives would reduce the fair value of the assets.

Condition rating 1 to 5

The condition rating is based on the physical state 
of the assets. An improvement in the condition 
rating would increase the fair value of the assets. 
A decline in the condition rating would reduce the 
fair value of the assets.

Cost to bring to 
current standard 
(refurbishment cost)

Hospitals $42,000 to 
$54,760,000

Other buildings $8,000 to 
$2,515,000

Costs to bring to current standards are based on 
tendering pricing and historical building cost data. 
An increase in estimated costs to bring to current 
standards would reduce the fair value of the 
assets. A decrease in the estimated costs to bring 
to current standards would increase the fair value 
of the assets.

Usage of alternative quantitative values (higher or lower) for each unobservable input that are reasonable to the circumstances as at 

the revaluation date would not result in material changes in the reported fair value.

The condition rating of an asset is used as a mechanism to determine the cost to bring to current standards and also to estimate the 

remaining life.

There are no other direct or significant interrelationships between observable inputs that materially impact fair value.
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Note 13. Equity – Contributed

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Contributed equity opening balance 517,084 445,626 

Equity contributions 179,390 102,850 

Equity withdrawals (36,132) (31,392)

660,342 517,084 

Equity contributions consists of cash funds provided for minor capital works $13,419,885 during 2015 ($17,111,000 during 2014) and 

assets transferred to the Townsville HHS $165,969,987 during 2015 ($85,739,000 during 2014). Equity withdrawals represent the 

contribution towards the capital works program undertaken by the DoH on behalf of the Townsville HHS.

Capital for the Townsville HHS comprises of accumulated surpluses and contributed equity. When managing capital, management’s 

objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to meet service delivery outcomes.

Note 14. Equity – reserves

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Asset revaluation surplus reserve - land 1,300 429 

Asset revaluation surplus reserve - buildings 67,003 62,340 

68,303 62,769 

Revaluation surplus reserve

The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings.

Note 15. Financial Instruments

(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments

The Townsville HHS has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

Note 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 71,778 79,739

Trade receivables 11 15,875 11,517

Net GST input tax credits receivable 11 885 1,006

Total 88,538 92,262

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables 29,609 49,394

Total 29,609 49,394

(b) Financial risk management 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Townsville HHS Board. These 

policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Townsville HHS and appropriate procedures, controls and risk 

limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within the Townsville HHS’s operating units. Finance reports to the 

Board on a monthly basis.
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Risk Exposure Measurement Method

Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Credit risk Ageing analysis, cash inflows at risk

Liquidity risk Monitoring of cash flows by active management of accrual accounts

(i) Market risk

The Townsville HHS is not exposed to fluctuations in market prices. 

Townsville HHS’s only interest rate risk exposure is on its 24 hour call deposits, which is limited to the balance as disclosed in Note 10.

The impact of a reasonably possible change in interest rates has been assessed not to have a material impact on the Townsville HHS.

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a counterparty defaulting on its obligations. The maximum exposure to credit 

risk at balance date is equal to the gross carrying amount of the financial assets, inclusive of any allowance for impairment. The 

carrying amount of receivables represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

 Credit risk on cash deposits is considered minimal given all Townsville HHS deposits are held by the State through Queensland 

Treasury Corporation and the Commonwealth Bank of Australia and as such any reasonable change to trading terms has been 

assessed not to have a material impact on the Townsville HHS.

No collateral is held as security over trade receivables. Allowances for impairment reflects the occurrence of loss events. The most 

readily identifiable loss event is where a debtor is overdue in paying a debt according to the due date. Ageing of past due but not 

impaired as well as impaired financial assets are disclosed in the following tables:

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Financial assets past due but not impaired 

Trade Receivables

Less than 30 days 11,018 8,465 

30-60 days 1,442 1,273 

61-90 days 1,144 334 

More than 90 days 2,271 1,445 

Total 15,875 11,517 

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Individual impaired financial assets

Trade Receivables

Less than 30 days 373 464 

30-60 days 155 146 

61-90 days 243 570 

More than 90 days 1,564 1,278 

Total 2,335 2,458 
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(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Townsville HHS will not have the resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to 

settle its financial liabilities.

Townsville HHS is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The HHS aims to reduce the exposure 

to liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee and supplier obligations at all times. Townsville HHS 

has an approved overdraft facility of $7.5 million under Whole-of-Government banking arrangements to manage any short term cash 

shortfall. The following table sets out the exposure of financial liabilities held by the Townsville HHS to liquidity risk:

2015 Payables <1 year $’000 1-5 years $’000 > 5 years $’000 Total $’000

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables 29,609 - - 29,609

Total 29,609 - - 29,609

2014 Payables <1 year $’000 1-5 years $’000 > 5 years $’000 Total $’000

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables 49,394 - - 49,394

Total 49,394 - - 49,394

Note 16. Key Management Personnel Disclosures
The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had the authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the major activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year.

Name and position of 
current incumbents

Responsibilities
Contract classification and 
appointment authority

Initial Appointment 
date

Board

John Bearne
Chair of Townsville HHB & Chair of 
Townsville HHB Governance Sub-
Committee

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2013-17/5/2016
29/05/2012

Michelle Morton Deputy Chair Townsville HHB & Chair of 
Townsville HHB Executive Sub-Committee

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2013-17/5/2016
29/06/2012

Glen Cerutti Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 
Townsville HHB Finance Sub-Committee

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2013-17/5/2016
29/06/2012

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 
Townsville HHB Audit Sub-Committee

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2014-17/5/2017
29/06/2012

Dr Kevin Arlett
Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 
Townsville HHB Safety & Quality Sub-
Committee

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2014-17/5/2017
29/06/2012

Lynette McLaughlin Board Member Townsville HHB
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2014-17/5/2017
07/09/2012

Susan Phillips Board Member Townsville HHB
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2013-17/5/2016
07/09/2012

Robert Whaleboat Board Member Townsville HHB
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2013-17/5/2016
27/07/2012

Prof Ian Wronski AO Board Member Townsville HHB
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Tenure: 18/5/2014-17/5/2017
29/06/2012

Helen Towler Board Member Townsville HHB Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011
10/10/2014

(Ceased: 
17/05/2015)
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Name and position of 
current incumbents

Responsibilities
Contract classification and 
appointment authority

Appointment date

Key Executive 
Management Personnel

Julia Squire

Chief Executive- responsible to ensure 
patient safety through effective executive 
leadership and management and other 
applicable support functions. 

S24/70 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 26/11/2012

Kieran Keyes

Chief Operating Officer- responsible 
for the efficient operation of the Health 
Service providing strategic leadership and 
direction for the Townsville HHS service 
delivery

HES3-1 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 01/12/2012

Shaun Eldridge

Chief Finance Officer- responsible for 
strategic leadership and direction over the 
efficient, effective and economic financial 
administration of the Townsville HHS

HES3-2 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 18/11/2013

Judith Morton

Executive Director Nursing & Midwifery 
Services- responsible for providing 
strategic and operational leadership of 
nursing and midwifery services of the 
Townsville HHS

NRG12-1 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 01/12/2014

Dr Andrew Johnson
Executive Director Medical Services- 
responsible for medical service delivery of 
the Townsville HHS

MMO13 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 01/07/2012

Patrick Sheehan

Executive Director Human Resources & 
Engagement- provides strategic human 
resource management for the Townsville 
HHS

HES2-3 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 02/06/2014

Lisa Davies- Jones

Executive Director Clinical Governance- 
provides strategic oversight of the 
safety and quality functions across the 
Townsville HHS

HES2-3 01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 03/11/2014

Danielle Hornsby

Executive Director Programmes 
Management- provide in-house leadership 
support for significant strategic and 
organisation-wide change programs

DSO1.1 Hospital and Health Boards 
Act 2011 22/06/2015

Anthony Williams

Executive Director Planning & 
Performance- provide strategic oversight 
of the planning and performance 
functions across the Townsville HHS

HES2-2.01 Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011

1/7/2012

(Ceased: 2/8/2014)

Remuneration packages for key management personnel comprise the following components:

>> Short term employee benefits which include: Base - consisting of base salary, allowances and leave entitlements expensed for 

the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position. Non-monetary benefits - 

consisting of the provision of all vehicle and loan fringe benefits, as well as fringe benefits tax applicable to these benefits.

>> Long term employee benefits include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave.

>> Post-employment benefits include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations.

>> Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for 

notice periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination.

>> Performance bonuses are not paid under the contracts in place.

>> Total fixed remuneration is calculated on a ‘total cost’ basis and includes the base and non-monetary benefits, long term 

employee benefits and post-employment benefits.
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2015

Short term benefits
Long Term 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total ExpensesMonetary 
Expenses

Non-monetary 
Expenses

Name $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

John Bearne 97 1 - 10 - 108 

Michelle Morton 48 - - 5 - 53 

Glen Cerutti 56 - - 4 - 60 

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM 51 - - 5 - 56 

Dr Kevin Arlett 48 - - 4 - 52 

Lynette McLaughlin 53 - - 5 - 58 

Susan Phillips 52 - - 4 - 56 

Robert Whaleboat 47 - - 4 - 51 

Prof Ian Wronski AO 47 - - 4 - 51 

Helen Towler 11 - - 1 - 12 

2014

Short term benefits
Long Term 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total ExpensesMonetary 
Expenses

Non-monetary 
Expenses

Name $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

John Bearne 76 - - 7 - 83

Michelle Morton 36 - - 3 - 39

Glen Cerutti 45 - - 3 - 48

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM 36 - - 3 - 39

Dr Kevin Arlett 36 - - 3 - 39

Lynette McLaughlin 43 - - 3 - 46

Susan Phillips 43 - - 3 - 46

Robert Whaleboat 36 - - 3 - 39

Prof Ian Wronski AO 36 - - 3 - 39

Prof Linda Shields 10 - - 1 - 11

2015

Short term benefits
Long Term 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total ExpensesMonetary 
Expenses

Non-monetary 
Expenses

Name $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Julia Squire 391 14 8 37 - 450 

Kieran Keyes 212 - 4 20 - 236 

Shaun Eldridge 218 - 4 22 - 244 

Judith Morton 144 - 3 14 - 161 

Dr Andrew Johnson 497 - 10 37 - 544 

Patrick Sheehan 201 - 4 20 - 225 

Lisa Davies-Jones 125 - 2 13 - 140 

Anthony Williams 8 - - - 38 46 
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2014

Short term benefits
Long Term 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total ExpensesMonetary 
Expenses

Non-monetary 
Expenses

Name $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Julia Squire 317 10 6 34 - 367

Kieran Keyes 175 - 4 21 - 200

Shaun Eldridge 117 - 3 13 - 133

Ian Moody 103 - 2 10 - 115

Dr Andrew Johnson 457 1 10 36 - 504

Patrick Sheehan 11 - - 1 - 12

Louise Oriti 216 - - 2 84 302

Valerie Tuckett 253 - 1 17 116 387

Anthony Williams 152 - 3 19 - 174

Marlene Cochrane 112 - 2 9 - 123

Estelle Bain 37 - 1 3 - 41

Note 17. Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2015, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the State of Queensland acting through the Townsville Hospital 

and Health Service as defendant:

2015 cases New cases Completed cases 2014 cases

Litigation in progress (Insured Claims)

Health Litigation 41 - 14 55

General Liability 6 2 - 4

Property 1 1 - - 

Total 48 3 14 59

Health litigation is underwritten by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). Townsville HHS’s liability in this area is limited 

to an excess per insurance event of $20,000 for Health Litigation claims and $10,000 for General Liability and Property claims.

The Townsville HHS’s legal advisers and management believe it would be misleading to estimate the final amounts payable (if any) 

in respect of the litigation before the courts at this time, but do not anticipate that the amount would exceed $890,000- being the 

utmost deductible amount being payable, based on the claims reflected above. Refer to Note 2 (t).

Native Title

The Queensland Government Native Title Work Procedures were designed to ensure that native title issues are considered in all of 

Queensland Health’s land and natural resource activities.

All business pertaining to land held by or on behalf of Queensland Health must take native title into account before proceeding. 

Such activities include disposal, acquisition, development, redevelopment, clearing, fencing of real property including the granting 

of leases, licences or permits. Real property dealings may proceed on department owned land where native title continues to exist, 

provided native title holders or claimants receive the necessary procedural rights.

Queensland Health undertakes native title assessments over real property when required and is currently negotiating a number of 

Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUA) with native title holders. These ILUAs will provide trustee leases to validate the tenure of 

current and future health facilities. The National Title Tribunal reported 1 claim lodged in relation to the Townsville HHS (2014:16).
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Note 18. Commitments

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Capital commitments

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Property, plant and equipment 2,400 1,037 

Lease commitments - operating

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 1,003 967 

One to five years 1,307 1,742 

More than five years 1,980 2,269 

4,290 4,978 

Note 19. Restricted Assets
As at 1 July 2012 the Queensland Health and pursuant with section 4 of the transfer notice - Designation of Transfer or Other dealing 

(S307(2)(a) of the Hospital and Health Services Act 2011), General Trust Net Assets to the total value of $6,533,000 were transferred 

to the Townsville HHS. A significant component of the General Trust funds held by the Townsville HHS is the Study Education and 

Research Trust Account (SERTA), disclosed in the following table. Under the Senior Health Employee Contracts (SHECS) (previously 

Right of Private Practice agreement), service retention amounts generated by doctors after reaching the threshold allowable under the 

retention arrangement are held in trust for specific purposes of study, education and research activities. 

General Trust Funds are managed on an accrual basis and form part of the annual general purpose financial statements. This money 

is controlled by the Townsville HHS and forms part of the cash and cash equivalents balance (refer to Note 10), however it is restricted 

as it can only be used for specific purposes. At 30 June 2015 amounts of $9,585,220 (2014: $10,156,844) are set aside for the specified 

purpose of the underlying contribution.

Given that funds generated from private practice arrangements are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the 

services are rendered, the timing of SERTA expenditure can impact on the overall HHS operating result. For instance, a positive 

financial impact will result when SERTA revenue exceeds SERTA expenditure during any given financial year. Vice versa, a negative 

financial impact will result when SERTA expenditure exceeds SERTA revenue during any given financial year.

Study Education and Research Trust 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Revenue 1,267 3,014

Education and Professional Development (64) (119)

Travel (1) (3)

Equipment - (139)

Other (698) (788)

Total Payments (763) (1,049)

Surplus for the year 504 1,965

Current Asset beginning of year 7,577 5,612

Current Asset end of year 8,081 7,577

Plus: Other amounts held in trust 1,504 2,580

Total General Trust Funds 9,585 10,157
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Note 20. Trust Transactions and Balances
The Townsville HHS is responsible for the efficient, effective and accountable administration of patients’ monies. Patients’ monies/

properties are held in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the patient to whom the duty is owed. 

Patients’ monies do not represent resources controlled by the Townsville HHS. These monies are received and held on behalf of 

patients and as such, do not form part of the assets recognised by the Townsville HHS.

Trust receipts and payments 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Receipts

Patient Trust receipts 6,225 4,712 

Total receipts 6,225 4,712 

Payments

Patient Trust (5,179) (4,610)

Refundable deposits - (1)

Total payments (5,179) (4,611)

Current Asset beginning of year 729 628

Current Asset end of year 1,775 729

Note 21. Events After the Reporting Period
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the agency’s 

operations, the results of those operations, or the agency’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Note 22. Arrangements for the Provision of Public Infrastructure by Other Entities
The Department of Health, prior to the establishment of the Townsville HHS, had entered into a number of contractual arrangements 

with private sector entities for the construction and operation of public infrastructure facilities for a period of time on land now 

controlled by the Townsville HHS (Public Private Partnership (PPP) arrangements).

Although the land on which the facilities have been constructed remains an asset of the Townsville HHS, the Townsville HHS does 

not control the facilities with these arrangements. Therefore these facilities are not recorded as assets. The Townsville HHS received 

rights and incurs obligations under these arrangements including:

a) rights and obligations to receive and pay cash flows in accordance with the respective contractual arrangements and

b) rights to receive the facilities at the end of the contractual term.

The arrangements have been structured to minimise risk exposure for the Townsville HHS. Townsville HHS has not recognised any 

rights or obligations that may attach to those arrangements.

Public Private Partnership (PPP) arrangements operating for all or part of the financial year are as follows:

Facility Counterparty Term of Agreement Commencement Date

Medilink The Trust Company Ltd 30 years January 2012

Goodstart Early Learning The Trust Company Ltd 32 years February 2012
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Other revenue recognised in relation to these arrangements by facility:

Revenue and expenses 2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Revenue

Medilink 37 36 

Goodstart Early Learning 14 13 

Total revenue 51 49

Medilink

The developer has constructed an administrative and retail complex on the site at the hospital. Rental of $36,000 per annum, escalated 

for CPI annually will be received from the facility owner up to January 2042. The facility owner operates and maintains the facility at 

its sole cost and risk. Estimated net rent receivable to 2042 is $1,453,000 (2014: $1,490,000).

Goodstart Early Learning Centre

The developer has constructed a childcare facility on the site at the hospital. Rental of $14,000 per annum, escalated for CPI annually 

will be received from the facility owner up to February 2044. The facility owner operates and maintains the facility at its sole cost and 

risk. Estimated net rent receivable to 2042 $583,000 (2014: $597,000).

In accordance with the relevant provisions of the contractual arrangements, the ownership of the buildings transfers to Townsville 

HHS at no cost to Townsville HHS at the expiry of the contractual arrangements.

Note 23. Reconciliation of surplus to net cash from operating activities

2015 $’000 2014 $’000

Surplus for the year 7,802 19,906 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 36,132 31,392 

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets 237 (140)

Revenue - contribution To DOH Capital Works in Progress Program (36,132) (31,392)

Assets donated revenue non-cash* (3,937) (74)

Assets transferred non cash - 815 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (4,040) 2,797 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (116) (421)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (103) (70)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (4,228) 3,194

(Decrease)/increase in employee benefits 839 (23)

(Decrease)/increase in other operating liabilities - 226 

Net cash from operating activities (3,546) 26,210 

* In accordance with the Minister’s Designation of Transfer, assets transferred to the Townsville HHS from the Department of Health 

(2015: $165,969,987) form part of Contributed Equity, and are represented in the accounts as ‘non-appropriated equity asset transfers.’ 

Refer to Note 13. All other assets transferred to the Townsville HHS are reflected as revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service Annual Report 2014–2015 83



Note 24. Budget vs. Actual Comparison 
In accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1055, explanations of major variances between actual amounts presented in the 

financial statements against that of 2014/15 budgets are disclosed below. 

Explanations have been provided where variances have been deemed material, i.e. where variances are greater than 10% and $1 million.

(i) Variance to budget: Statement of Comprehensive Income

2015 
$ ‘000 

Budget

2015 
$ ‘000 
Actual

Variance
Note

$ %

Revenue

User charges 732,222 766,722 34,500 4.7%

Grants and other contributions 21,531 32,328 10,797 50.1% 24(a) 

Other revenue (including interest) 4,319 6,134 1,815 42.0% 24(b)

Gains - - -

Total revenue 758,072 805,184 47,112

Expenses

Employee expenses 863 557,280 (556,417) -5.2% 24(h) 

Supplies and services 708,896 189,525 519,371

Grants and subsidies 8,555 4,657 3,898 45.6% 24(c) 

Depreciation and amortisation 36,161 36,132 29 0.1%

Impairment losses - 847 (847) -100.0%

Other expenses (including losses on sale/revaluation of assets) 3,597 8,941 (5,344) -148.6% 24(d) 

Total expenses 758,072 797,382 (39,310)

Operating Result for the year - 7,802 7,802

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 29,424 5,534 (23,890) -81.2% 24(e)

Other comprehensive income for the year 29,424 5,534 (23,890)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 29,424 13,336 (16,088)
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(ii) Variance to budget: Statement of Financial Position

Assets
2015 

$ ‘000 
Budget

2015 
$ ‘000 
Actual

Variance
Note

$ %

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 73,643 71,778 (1,865) -2.5%

Trade and other receivables 13,503 16,760 3,257 24.1% 24(f)

Inventories (held at cost) 5,753 6,118 365 6.3%

Prepayments 462 517 55 11.9%

Total Current Assets 93,361 95,173 1,812

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 693,512 728,140 34,628 5.0% 24(g)

Intangibles - 244 244 100.0%

Total Non-Current Assets 693,512 728,384 34,872

Total Assets 786,873 823,557 36,684

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 56,727 29,609 27,118 19.6% 24(h) 

Accrued employee benefits 40 16,030 (15,990)

Other (Inc. unearned revenue) 405 1,211 (806) -199.0%

Total Current Liabilities 57,172 46,850 10,322

Total Liabilities 57,172 46,850 10,322

Net Assets 729,701 776,707 47,006

Equity

Contributed 652,807 660,342 7,535 1.2%

Asset Revaluation Reserve 48,321 68,303 19,982 41.4% 24(e)

Accumulated Surplus 28,573 48,062 19,489 68.2% 24(i)

Total Equity 729,701 776,707 47,006

(iii) Variance to budget: Statement of Changes in Equity

2015 
$ ‘000 

Budget

2015 
$ ‘000 
Actual

Variance
Note

$ %

Net effect of the changes in accounting policies and prior year 
adjustments - - -

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation reserve 29,424 5,534 (23,890) -81.2% 24(e)

Net amount of all revenue and expense adjustments direct to 
equity not disclosed above - - -

Net income recognised directly in equity 29,424 5,534 (23,890)

Operating Result for the Year - 7,802 7,802 100.0% 24(j)

Total recognised in income and expense for the period - 7,802 7,802

Equity injection/(withdrawal) (28,550) (36,132) (7,582) -26.6% 24(k)

Equity adjustments 218,800 179,390 (39,410) -18.0% 24(l)

Total movement in equity for period 219,674 156,594 (63,080)  
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(iv) Variance to budget: Statement of cash flows

2015 
$ ‘000 

Budget

2015 
$ ‘000 
Actual

Variance
Note

$ %

Cash flows from Operating Activities

User charges 729,982 730,034 53 0.0%

Grants and other contributions 21,531 24,789 3,258 15.1% 24(a)

Interest received 346 423 77 22.3%

Other revenue 19,841 5,615 (14,226) -71.7% 24(b)

Employee expenses (863) (561,497) (560,634) -5.2% 24(h)

Supplies and services (719,945) (196,539) 523,406

Grants and subsidies (8,555) (4,656) 3,899 45.6% 24(c) 

Other expenses (1,486) (1,715) (229) -15.4%

GST remitted - - -

Net cash from operating activities 40,851 (3,546) (44,396)

Cash flows from Investing Activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (7,611) (17,853) (10,242) -134.6% 24(m)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 18 18 100.0%

Net cash used in investing activities (7,611) (17,835) (10,224)

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from equity injections 7,611 13,420 5,809 -76.3% 24(l) 

Equity withdrawals (36,161) - 36,161 100% 24(k) 

Net cash from financing activities (28,550) 13,420 41,970

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,690 (7,961) (12,651)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 68,953 79,739 10,786

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 73,643 71,778 (1,865)

(v) Major variations between 2014–2015 budget and 2014–2015 results include:

a) Grants and other contributions: during 2014–2015 the Townsville HHS recognised a non-cash donation of $3.9 million which was 

not included in the budget. In addition, there was an increase in grants to fund an increase in placement programs at the HHS. 

There was also an increase in the value and number of grants from when the original budget was prepared (variation to revenue 

of $2.4 million – existing grants and $.9 million – new grants).

b) Other Revenue: no budget allocation was provided for ‘Health Service Employee Expense Recoveries’ given its nature. Total 

monies recovered during 2014–2015 were $2.3 million.

c) Grants and subsidies: upon preparation of the budget it was anticipated that expenditure on research grants would significantly 

increase in 2014–2015 (2013-14 actual $3.7 million), however this did not occur. 

d) Other expenses: no budget allocation was provided for insurance arrangements, paid by the Townsville HHS during 2014–

2015 ($6.7 million).

e) Other comprehensive income for the year & Reserves: A total of $5.5 million was credited to the asset revaluation reserve in 

2014–2015, in accordance with the Townsville HHS’s revaluation processes. The budgeted revaluation uplift was based on prior 

year revaluation results which included favourable market assumptions and an increase in functional space at the HHS. These 

assumptions were optimistic compared to actuals in the current period.

f ) Trade and other receivables: The variance between actual and budget is primarily the result of the timing of cash receipts as well 

as an increase in accrued funding revenue.

g) Property, Plant, and Equipment: balance as at 30 June 2015 consists of all assets transferred to the HHS from the Department of 

Health (including assets completed and transferred during the 2014–2015 year). During 2014–2015, transfers from the Department 

of Health to the HHS occurred on 30 June 2015 and, thus, had no significant impact on revaluation or depreciation calculations.
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h) Trade and other payables & Accrued employee benefits: At 30 June 2015 accrued salaries and wages (for wages and salaries 

earned but not paid as at 30 June 2015) are presented in the Statement of Financial Position as ‘accrued employee benefits.’ At 

30 June 2014, accrued contract labour was recognised within ‘trade and other payables.’ Refer to Note 2(r) for information about 

the Townsville HHS becoming a Prescribed Employer. To a large extent, the budget was prepared using historical coding, and 

hence this change was not incorporated into the 2014–2015 budget.

i) Retained Surplus: the budget allocated did not include the surplus achieved in 2013-14 of $19.9 million.

j) Operating Surplus: the variance to budget was due to an increase in own source revenue (variation of $7.6 million), and the 

recognition of an asset donation of $3.9 million. This is offset by additional costs incurred to achieve service agreement targets 

(variation to expenses of $3.9 million).

k) Equity Withdrawal: Budget allocation was inconsistent with extent of depreciation funding (to the extent of $7.6 million). Actuals 

are consistent with the extent of depreciation expense.

l) Equity Adjustments: budget allocation was based on historical cost of assets to be transferred. However, the assets were 

transferred to the HHS at fair value (variation to the equity adjustment to the extent of $39.4 million).

m) Payments for property and equipment: To a large extent, the budget was prepared using estimated figures, and hence actual 

expenditure incurred by the Townsville HHS for the 2014–2015 year varies by $10.2 million.
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Townsville Hospital and Health Service 
Management certificate
30 June 2015

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 

(the Act), section 43 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. 

In accordance with section 62(1)(b) of the Act, we certify that in our opinion:

(a) the prescribed requirement for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and

(b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with the prescribed accounting standards, of 

the transactions of Townsville Hospital and Health Service for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and of the financial position 

of the Health Service at the end of the year; and

(c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes being effective, in all 

material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

John Bearne

Board Chair

Townsville Hospital and Health Service

Date: 28/8/15

Julia Squire

Chief Executive

Townsville Hospital and Health Service

Date: 28/8/15

Shaun Eldridge

Chief Finance Officer

Townsville Hospital and Health Service

Date: 28/8/15
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Townsville Hospital and Health Service 
Independent Auditor’s Report
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Open Data
The following supplementary information is available online at www.health.qld.gov.au/townsville

• Consultancies

• Overseas Travel

• Queensland Language Services Policy

• Government Bodies
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Compliance checklist
Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 

reference

Letter of 
compliance

A letter of compliance from the accountable officer or statutory 
body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 8 p2

Accessibility

Table of contents
Glossary

ARRs – section 10.1 p3

Public availability ARRs – section 10.2 inside cover

Interpreter service statement
Queensland Government Language 
Services Policy
ARRs – section 10.3

inside cover

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968
ARRs – section 10.4 inside cover

Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing
ARRs – section 10.5 inside cover

General 
information

Introductory Information ARRs – section 11.1 p4–7

Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 11.2 p11

Operating environment ARRs – section 11.3 p22, 27–30, 34

Machinery of government changes ARRs – section 11.4 n/a

Non-financial 
performance

Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 12.1 p12–14

Other whole-of-government plans / specific initiatives ARRs – section 12.2 p14

Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 12.3 p16–22, 45–46

Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 12.4 p47
Financial 
performance

Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 13.1 p48–49

Governance – 
management 
and structure

Organisational structure ARRs – section 14.1 p37

Executive management ARRs – section 14.2 p34–36, 39, 40

Government bodies (statutory bodies and other entities) ARRs – section 14.3 inside cover

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
ARRs – section 14.4 p53

Queensland Public Service Values ARRs – section 14.5 p11

Governance 
– risk 
management 
and 
accountability

Risk management ARRs – section 15.1 p39–40

External scrutiny ARRs – section 15.2 p40

Audit committee ARRs – section 15.3 p38

Internal audit ARRs – section 15.4 p38–39

Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 15.5 p41

Governance 
– human 
resources

Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 16.1 p53–55

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment
Directive No.11/12 Early Retirement, 
Redundancy and Retrenchment
ARRs – section 16.2

p55

Open Data

Consultancies ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.1 p91

Overseas travel ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.2 p91

Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.3 p91

Government bodies ARRs – section 17
ARRs – section 34.4 p91

Financial 
statements

Certification of financial statements
FAA – section 62
FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 50
ARRs – section 18.1

p88

Independent Auditors Report
FAA – section 62
FPMS – section 50
ARRs – section 18.2

p89–90

Remuneration disclosures
Financial Reporting Requirements for 
Queensland Government Agencies
ARRs – section 18.3

p79–80

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009

FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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